

Access to New Cures & Innovative Care for Medicaid Patients

Examining Challenges and Opportunities for Cell and Gene Therapies in Medicaid

October 2020 Clay Alspach Shannon Rohn Deere Josh Trent



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
METHODOLOGY	5
INTRODUCTION	7
BACKGROUND	3
Understanding Cell and Gene Therapies	8
Cell and Gene Therapies on the Market Today	9
The Pipeline of New Cell and Gene Therapies10	D
Medicaid Provides Health Coverage and Support for Millions of Americans13	3
How Medicaid Patients Access Cell and Gene Therapies13	3
Payment Approaches for Medicaid-Covered Drugs1	5
CURRENT CHALLENGES	5
A Pandemic and a Recession	6
Increasing Demands on Medicaid Program Leaders16	6
The High Cost of Innovative Cures and Therapies17	7
Lack of Visibility of CGT Candidates in Development	9
Variance in the Use of Clinical Evidence	9
Geographic Barriers to Accessing Health Care Providers20	0
Qualified Health Care Providers	1
Health Care Disparities and Structural Racial Inequities	2
Coverage of Supportive Wraparound Services22	2
Medicaid Managed Care Challenges	3
Barriers to Value-Based Payment Arrangements for CGT24	4
MODERNIZATIONS TO REALIZE THE PROMISE OF CELL AND GENE THERAPY	7
RECOMMENDATIONS PROPOSED BY STAKEHOLDERS	7
Recommendations to Improve Patient Access to Supportive Wraparound Services	7
Recommendations to Advance Value-Based Payment and Reduce Costs	8
Recommendations to Improve State Medicaid Program Leader Capacity	9
Recommendations for Ongoing Research on Medicaid and CGT29	9
Recommendations to Help Ease State Medicaid Financing Challenges Due to Recession	D
Recommendations to Address the Lack of Visibility on the CGT Pipeline	1
Recommendations to Address Racial Inequities	2
Recommendations to Address the Social Determinants of Health	2
kecommendations to Address Access Barriers Related to Geography	3
Recommendations on Patient-Prioritized Outcomes and Evaluations of Therapy Success	3
CONCLUSION	1
SOURCES	5 2

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This white paper was financially supported by The Assistance Fund (TAF).

TAF is a nonprofit 501(c)(3) independent charitable assistance organization that helps patients by providing financial assistance with copayments, coinsurance, deductible, and other healthrelated expenses. TAF currently manages over 70 disease programs, all of which cover FDA-approved medications that treat a specific disease. TAF is committed to improving the lives of patients by easing the burden of high-cost therapies, including cell and gene therapies, and supporting policies which will improve access to these life-saving treatments over time. For more information, please visit www.tafcares.org.

Leavitt Partners acknowledges the valuable insights and perspective of the more than 45 experts whom we interviewed as part of the research for this project. The individuals we interviewed provided insightful observations and thoughtful recommendations on the wide array of challenges and diverse opportunities related to the coverage and reimbursement of cell and gene therapies in Medicaid.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Cell and gene therapies (CGTs) are some of the most promising and exciting medical advancements taking place today. Some existing CGTs treat previously untreatable rare diseases, and there are hundreds of CGTs in clinical development to treat various types of cancer, hemophilia, sickle cell and other blood disorders, Alzheimer's disease, and numerous rare conditions. The prospect of curative therapies which stop a disease in its tracks or even reverse the damage caused by the disease has the potential to change the course of medicine and improve the lives of millions of people. However, these new treatments also come with new complexities, one of the most pressing of which is price.

As a safety net program, Medicaid is responsible for providing care to some of America's most needy populations. Enrollees in the Medicaid program have the potential to benefit greatly from CGTs on the market today and those to come in the next few years. Many patients with rare diseases and chronic life-threatening conditions and their families are eager to access these groundbreaking therapies. But for the Medicaid program, there are multiple challenges that states must navigate to ensure access to medically necessary therapies while also being good stewards of the taxpayer dollar and ensuring a sustainable program for all patients served by Medicaid. There is an urgent and ongoing need for new tools and approaches in Medicaid's coverage and payment of CGT to provide patients with access to breakthrough cures.

Leavitt Partners provides in-depth analysis of the challenges in CGT coverage and payment in Medicaid, as well as opportunities for improvement, including concrete recommendations to improve coverage and payment. Leavitt Partners also helps patients access CGTs. Over 45 experts from stakeholders including state Medicaid directors and experts, providers, Medicaid health plans, manufacturers, and federal policymakers were consulted in outlining these challenges and moving toward solutions.

In this white paper, Leavitt Partners provides an overview of the CGT landscape in Medicaid. The paper starts by reviewing the science of CGTs, the pipeline of future therapies, and the basics of the FDA review process. Next, the paper explains how Medicaid currently covers and pays for CGTs and identifies various value-based and other payment arrangements being used by states.

Based on a landscape assessment of existing literature and analysis, as well as original interviews with more than 45 subject matter experts representing a wide range of Medicaid stakeholders, the paper provides in-depth analysis of the challenges in CGT coverage and payment in Medicaid. Finally, the paper identifies areas of opportunity identified by the stakeholders, highlighting concrete recommendations to improve the Medicaid policy and program context to support more sustainable coverage and payment of CGT for Medicaid patients. About 7,000 rare diseases impact humans, of which only a few hundred have any treatment. Although each rare disease affects fewer than 200,000 Americans in total, these illnesses affect an estimated 30 million people in the United States. Since rare diseases often are difficult to diagnose, it can take years to obtain an accurate diagnosis. Even after a proper diagnosis, treatment often is unavailable, because only about 5 percent of rare diseases have a treatment approved by the FDA.



LEAVITT PARTNERS

Using the landscape assessment and original interviews, the white paper identifies multiple challenges to the timely, sustainable provision of CGT for Medicaid patients. Such challenges include, but are not limited to, the following:

- ✓ The COVID-19 Pandemic and Recession
- ✓ Increasing Demands on Medicaid Program Leaders
- ✓ The High Cost of Innovative Cures and Therapies
- ✓ Lack of Visibility of CGT Candidates in Development
- ✓ Variance in the Use of Clinical Evidence
- ✓ Geographic Barriers to Accessing Health Care Providers
- ✓ Qualified Health Care Providers
- ✓ Health Care Disparities and Structural Racial Inequities
- ✓ Coverage of Supportive Wraparound Services
- ✓ Medicaid Managed Care Challenges
- ✓ Barriers to Value-Based Payments for CGT

Based on these challenges identified by stakeholders, the white paper makes recommendations in 10 core areas, offering dozens of actionable ideas for policymakers, researchers, and Medicaid stakeholders to improve the sustainability of access to CGT in Medicaid. These areas include recommendations to:

- ✓ Improve Patient Access to Supportive Wraparound Services
- ✓ Advance Value-Based Payment and Reduce Costs
- ✓ Improve State Medicaid Program Leader Capacity
- ✓ Help Ease State Medicaid Financing Challenges Due to Recession
- ✓ Research on Medicaid and CGT
- ✓ Address the Lack of Visibility on the CGT Pipeline
- ✓ Address Racial Inequities and Social Determinants of Health
- ✓ Address Access Barriers Related to Geography
- ✓ Patient-Prioritized Outcomes and Evaluations of Therapy Success





METHODOLOGY

This white paper provides insights, analysis, and recommendations based on two components: (a) a landscape assessment, and (b) interviews with subject matter experts.

The landscape assessment surveyed existing literature, research, and analysis from a wide array of publicly available sources. Such sources included, but were not limited to, the following:

- ✓ Academic, non-profit, and professional society articles, research, and publications
- ✓ State Medicaid program policies
- ✓ Media coverage and press reports from national and trade outlets
- ✓ Policy proposals, guidance, and analysis from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, and other federal sources
- ✓ Other publicly available sources such as interviews, surveys, and presentations.

Leavitt Partners also conducted interviews with select subject matter experts, including more than 45 experts on cell and gene therapy and Medicaid. These individuals represented a wide range of views representative of the perspectives of:

- ✓ Patient advocacy groups (including advocates for patients with rare diseases)
 - Six patient advocacy groups, including four with a rare disease focus and one focused on cancer
- ✓ Medicaid managed care organizations
 - Four large national managed care plans
- ✓ State Medicaid programs (pharmacy and state program leadership)
 - Four former Medicaid directors from different states, a pharmacy director
- ✓ Drug manufacturers
 - Five manufacturers, all involved in the development of current cell and gene therapies or such products under development
- ✓ Associations and researchers working on cell and gene therapy issues
 - Two national associations focused on cell and gene therapy
 - Researchers focused on value-based payment for cell and gene therapy
- ✓ Health care providers
 - An expert knowledgeable in cell and gene therapy coverage and reimbursement challenges for hospitals
- Federal policymakers and researchers
 - Congressional staff from both the House and Senate

Leavitt Partners also spoke with a knowledgeable policy staff employed by trade associations representing a number of the organizations and sectors listed above.

Interviews covered a wide range of topics, including challenges observed in access to, coverage of, and payment for cell and gene therapies; insights on potential opportunities for improvement in those areas; and specific recommendations on value-based purchasing arrangements and policy changes to better facilitate access to cell and gene therapies. Through these interviews, Leavitt Partners obtained first-hand accounts of the complexities surrounding Medicaid's role in ensuring patient access to cell and gene therapies that served as core basis for the content, conclusions, and proposed stakeholder recommendations in the report.

The research in this white paper was financially supported by The Assistance Fund. Leavitt Partners maintained editorial control and independence throughout the writing of this white paper.

INTRODUCTION

Today, there are about 7,000 rare diseases impacting humans, and only a few hundred treatments addressing those conditions. While each rare disease affects fewer than 200,000 Americans, in total these illnesses affect an estimated 30 million people in the United States.¹ Many of these patients, as well as others with special needs and chronic diseases, are served by the Medicaid program.

The Medicaid program plays a critical role as a safety net by helping to provide health care and long-term care supports for some of the nation's most vulnerable patients. Today, state Medicaid programs collectively provide services to roughly one in four Americans each year. If Medicaid were a single insurance product, it would be the largest health plan in the world.

This year, Medicaid programs have endured the twin threats of the COVID-19 pandemic and a precipitous economic disruption that triggered a recession. Yet despite the current challenges, bright potential for many Medicaid enrollees is visible on the horizon. In the last few years, new cell and gene therapies have been approved that hold phenomenal promise to roll back the tide of disease, offering new cures and innovative therapies. With the approval of the U.S.' first gene therapy in 2017, and subsequent breakthrough therapies making their way to the market, a new frontier of medicine has opened, bringing curative therapies that can correct blindness, thwart and sometimes even reverse the advancement of degenerative diseases, and prevent premature death altogether.²

The approved therapies are just the tip of the iceberg; there are currently 18 approved cell and gene therapies, with another 363 in clinical development. These therapies involve treatments for 100 diseases and 132 therapies for rare diseases. The promise these therapies hold for patients is one of the most exciting and promising fields of medical science.

And yet today, many Medicaid programs struggle to provide enrollees with timely access to new therapies. The difficulties Medicaid programs face are not due to a lack of goodwill or desire; rather, they involve a complex, multi-faceted series of dynamics related to Medicaid program policies, payments, funding, authorities and tools at the federal, state, and local levels, as well as public and private sector organizations.

Understanding and examining these challenges requires patience, dedication, and humility. Thinking about new ways to tackle these challenges requires creativity, a recognition of the legitimacy and importance of each stakeholder's perspective and experience, and a multi-sector effort. In many respects, work in this spirit has already begun. Yet as the number of approved therapies grow, so too does the need for patients, payers, providers, and Medicaid programs to bring their perspectives, experiences, and insights together in this important space.³



With many challenges comes the need for collaborative efforts to help think about how to modernize a 20th-century payment model for 21st-century therapies and cures. New medical approaches to diseases require new systems and payment approaches to treatments. Every stakeholder impacted by the program today has the potential to be part of a future-oriented constructive path forward. Progress requires a focus on policies, practices, and payments that impact the program – and ultimately, patients.

Medicaid has a special role in helping extend access and provide treatments and cures to our country's most vulnerable populations. Improvements can be made so more patients can access cell and gene therapies in a sustainable, equitable, and timely manner. Policies and reforms must identify specific problems and solve for the entire value chain.

This white paper outlines research in three core areas. First, the paper outlines some of the greatest challenges currently facing the Medicaid program in providing for cell and gene therapies. Next, it identifies areas where there are opportunities for improvement With many challenges comes the need for collaborative efforts to help think about how to modernize a 20th-century payment model for 21st-century therapies and cures.

in coverage and payment that could increase enrollee access. Finally, the paper offers concrete, actionable recommendations for policymakers at the state and federal levels, based on the insights of experts.

There are no perfect or simple solutions, but there are meaningful and actionable steps that will help to bring timely access to 21stcentury treatments and cures to patients and their families. The millions of Americans with rare diseases, and the Medicaid program that serves many of them, need solutions to ensure the availability of innovative care and new cures for the future.

BACKGROUND

Understanding Cell and Gene Therapies

While cell and gene therapies have been a focus of scientific research and development for decades, the first such therapy was only approved by the FDA in 2017. Cell and gene therapies represent a groundbreaking advancement in the ability of medical science to roll back, and in some cases fully conquer, human disease. Because cell and gene therapies are a relatively new reality in the health care system, it is critically important that Medicaid stakeholders understand the basic science underpinning recent advancements.

The science enabling gene therapy came about in the late 1970s as a result of the development of recombinant DNA technology. The first gene therapy in the U.S. was approved in 2017.⁴

By contrast, insights into cell therapies date back to the first blood transfusions during the 1940s and have advanced with organ and bone marrow transplant in the 1960s and 1970s. Today, cell therapy products are advancing to treat cancer through lymphocyte transfer and potentially hold the ability to use stem cells to repair injured organs.⁵

Cell therapies. Cell (or cellular) therapy refers to the transplantation of live cells into a patient to heal or replace damaged tissues or cells. The cells can come from the patient themselves (known as autologous cells) or from a donor (known as allogenic cells).⁶ Cellular therapy products such as cellular immunotherapies, cancer vaccines, and other types of cells like stem cells hold great promise to alter the course of certain diseases.

PROVIDING PATIENTS WITH HOPE

Cell and gene therapies have already shown promising results for patients with rare, life-threatening diseases. There is now an FDA-approved gene therapy for spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) type 1, which is a genetic disease that is characterized by the progressive loss of motor neurons, which causes muscle weakness and atrophy. Patients with SMA type 1 exhibit symptoms early, usually at birth or by six months of age, and about 82% do not live to see their fourth birthday. In a Phase 3 trial of the gene therapy, patients showed improved motor function in the months following treatment, and five out of six patients who reached the age of 18 months by the end of the trial were able to sit independently for brief periods.

Currently, the most commonly used cell therapy is hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (otherwise known as a bone marrow transplant), which is used to treat various blood cancers and hematologic conditions. Other applications for cell therapies include treating cancer, autoimmune disease, urinary problems, and infectious diseases. Cell therapies may also be able to help repair joint problems, spinal injuries, neurological disorders, and weakened immune systems.⁷

Gene therapies. Gene therapies are products that seek to "modify or manipulate the expression of a gene to alter the biological properties of living cells for therapeutic use."⁸ More simply put, gene therapies alter a person's genes to treat a disease. There are numerous types of gene therapy products, including plasmid DNA, viral and bacterial vectors, human gene editing technologies, and patient-derived cellular gene therapy products. Plasmid DNA genetically engineers DNA molecules to transport therapeutic genes to human cells. Viral and bacterial vectors can alter a virus's or bacteria's ability to cause illness by carrying therapeutic genes to the cell. Gene editing products disrupt harmful genes and repair mutated genes, while patient-derived cellular gene therapy products take cells that are removed directly from the patient and modify them before returning them to the patient.

Gene therapies hold promise for treating various conditions, including inherited disorders, some cancers, and some viral infections.⁹ Because of their gene editing capabilities, gene therapies can address the root cause of a disease and some have the potential to provide a long-term, one-time treatment.¹⁰ Experts have characterized gene therapies as a tool that can be used to change the course of medicine "away from a chronic disease management approach toward disease interception and prevention."¹¹ Former Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Commissioner Scott Gottlieb said that he believes "gene therapy will become a mainstay in treating, and maybe curing, many of the most devastating and intractable illnesses.¹²

Throughout this report, cell and gene therapies will be referred to generally as "CGTs." Where appropriate, specific cell or gene therapy products and the diseases they treat may also be noted.

Cell and Gene Therapies on the Market Today

There are several CGTs available to patients today. As of July 24, 2020, FDA's Office of Tissues and Advanced Therapies (OTAT) lists 18 approved CGT products , including 11 cell therapies and 5 gene therapies.¹³ The treatments on the market address a range of diseases, including cancers, blood disorders, tissue abnormalities, and rare diseases. The table below (Figure 1) lists the approved treatments, types of treatment (cell or gene therapy and mechanism), and the diseases each therapy is designed to treat.

FDA has granted approvals for gene therapies in recent years, with the first three approvals made in 2017, one in 2019, and the most recent in July 2020. More gene therapies are expected in the coming years.¹⁴ Thus far, CGTs on the market today have come with significant price tags. They range in cost from thousands of dollars to over \$2 million per treatment, with the most expensive being gene therapies designed to treat rare conditions.¹⁵

While many Medicaid stakeholders are excited about the scientific advancement and promise of cures and therapies for Medicaid enrollees,



there is also great concern about the costs and sustainability of access for patients. The high cost of CGTs is due in part to the intense scientific research and development needed for the creation of the therapies as well as the fact that some CGTs only apply to rare diseases where there are relatively few patients. Additionally, some CGT have high costs, but are curative.¹⁶ These considerations and other dynamics contribute to the pricing of upcoming cell and gene therapies.

For a list of CGT approved by the FDA and on the market currently, please see Appendix 1 on page 35.

173

In addition to

these medicines

in development,

there are 173

medicines in

development

to treat or cure cancer.

The Pipeline of New Cell and Gene Therapies

The number of CGT products in the development pipeline continues to grow at a quick pace, with numerous products in clinical development.¹⁷ While there are currently only a handful of CGTs on the market, FDA is receiving hundreds of applications for ongoing clinical studies and expects to make many more approvals in the coming years.¹⁸

In early 2019, FDA estimated there would be between 10 to 20 CGTs by 2025 each year. Former FDA Commissioner Gottlieb and Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) Director Peter Marks stated in 2019 that they have seen a "large upswing" in investigational new drug applications (INDs) and said that they anticipate by 2020 they will receive over 200 INDs per year.¹⁹ Since that statement, FDA has issued 9 guidance documents on CGTs, including on gene therapies for hemophilia, rare diseases, and retinal disorders.²⁰



Figure 1 – Medicines in Development by Disease Type

*Development is inclusive of any medicine in clinical trial: Phase 1, Phase 2, Phase 2, or Application Submitted Source: https://www.phrma.org/en/Report/Medicines-in-Development-for-Cell-and-Gene-Therapy-2020





Others who have examined the scope of CGT products that could potentially receive approval have estimated a similarly robust pipeline.

- The Alliance for Regenerative Medicine (ARM) said in September 2019 that over 20 CGTs are expected to be filed or receive approval in the next year and half.²¹
- The Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT's) NEW Drug Development Paradigms (NEWDIGS) program conducted an
 analysis in 2018 to project new product launches for CGTs in the United States through 2030, and found that 40 to 60 launches
 could be expected through 2030, with at least 15 to 30 launched by 2022.²² NEWDIGS also projected that about 500,000
 patients would be treated with CGTs by 2030. These numbers present a significant change for the health care sector, with a
 paradigm shift toward one-time, curative products.
- In March 2020, the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA) released a report on the current pipeline, including detailed information on types of treatments to expect in the coming years. In the report, PhRMA noted that there are currently 363 CGTs in clinical development by US biopharmaceutical companies, up from 289 in 2018.²³ The report notes that more than 100 diseases are being explored for potential treatment, with more than 132 therapies in development for treatment of rare diseases. By the numbers, oncology has the largest number of therapies in the pipeline, with 173 in application submitted or phase I-III clinical trials.²⁴ Others include blood disorders, cardiovascular diseases, eye disorders, genetic disorders, and neurological disorders.

A number of experts we interviewed highlighted the potential for CGTs in late stage development to better treat hemophilia, expand CAR-T to target malignant myeloma, and fundamentally alter the harmful impacts of sickle cell disease. Experts noted concerns with expensive CGTs that treat larger populations coming to market. While many of the CGTs on the market today treat relatively rare conditions, the pipeline presents therapies that could have a much larger reach. These therapies have the potential to make a significant economic impact on the health care market, based on the prevalence of the condition and the cost of the CGT.²⁵ According to a recent report, in 2018, the CGT market was valued globally at \$1.07 billion. It is projected to grow by over \$8.95 billion by 2025.²⁶ The growth in the cell and gene therapy market holds great promise for patients since while about 7,000 rare diseases impact humans, only a few hundred have treatment – leaving roughly 30 million Americans suffering from rare diseases each year. CGTs are generally regulated by the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) at FDA, and this regulation covers the products themselves as well as certain related devices. CBER regulates clinical studies of CGTs and also provides scientific and regulatory product development advice for researchers and manufacturers.²⁷

The FDA uses various methods to prioritize review of products where there is an urgent medical need, and in the case of CGTs it has used Priority Review, Breakthrough Therapy, Accelerated Approval, Fast Track designations and Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy (RMAT) pathways.





https://www.fda.gov/patients/learn-about-drug-and-device-approvals/fast-track-breakthrough-therapy-accelerated-approval-priority-review https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/regenerative-medicine-advanced-therapy-designation

- Priority Review. A priority review designation indicates that FDA aims to take action on an application within 6 months, as opposed to the 10 months it is statutorily permitted under standard review.²⁸ Each application gets either a designation of priority or standard review.
- Breakthrough Therapy Designation. Manufacturers may also request breakthrough therapy designation, which comes with all the same benefits as fast-track designation, in addition to guidance as early as phase I on the drug development program and FDA organizational commitment to development and approval. Breakthrough therapy designation is reserved for those therapies that can demonstrate substantial improvement over other treatments on a clinically significant endpoint.²⁹
- Accelerated Approval. Accelerated approval permits FDA approval based on a surrogate endpoint,³⁰ which can speed the drug approval process by allowing a therapy to be approved where there is reasonable likelihood of a real clinical benefit. Through this process, FDA can grant approval prior to clinical benefit being confirmed, and allow confirmatory trials to be performed post-approval. Approval may be withdrawn if the therapy does not demonstrate a clinical benefit or is discovered to have significant risks.³¹
- Fast Track Designation. Manufacturers may opt to request fast-track designation at any point in the drug development process and receive a decision within 60 days. This designation allows for the manufacturer of a therapy with an unmet medical need to have more frequent meetings with FDA to discuss the development plan, more frequent communications with FDA, eligibility for priority review and accelerated approval, and rolling review of parts of the BLA and NDA by FDA.³²
- RMAT Designation. In 21st Century Cures, Congress enacted the "regenerative medicine advanced therapy" (RMAT) designation. This designation enables sponsors with qualifying therapies to benefit from the features included in the breakthrough therapy as well as the fast track programs.

These review processes have allowed FDA to bring CGTs to the market and to patients more quickly than the traditional drug development process may allow, and sometimes with more limited evidence from smaller clinical trials. As we will discuss, some experts have noted that while this expedited process has brought CGTs to the market faster, it has also contributed to some difficulties for states and payers that are making decisions about coverage based on clinical evidence.

Medicaid Provides Health Coverage and Support for Millions of Americans

Medicaid is a critically important safety net program for millions of Americans. The Medicaid program plays a major role in providing CGT access, coverage, and reimbursement. Through covering patients with rare diseases and serious life-threatening conditions, Medicaid has become responsible for covering not only basic medical expenses, but also expensive, ground-breaking therapies that have the potential to enhance, improve, or extend the lives of enrollees. Medicaid's role as a safety net program operated by states on limited budgets, combined with the expensive nature of CGTs, poses issues for states in paying for therapies that enrollees medically require. To address these issues, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and state Medicaid programs have been exploring innovative approaches to paying for therapies while ensuring financial stability in the future.

The Medicaid program is a federal-state safety net program that has historically provided coverage to low-income children, pregnant women, people with disabilities, elderly individuals, and parents with dependent children.³³ The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) authorized states to expand Medicaid eligibility to adults under age 65 with an income of up to 138% of the federal poverty level (FPL), and 39 states have expanded coverage to that population.³⁴ In May 2020, more than 66 million people were enrolled in Medicaid.³⁵ The Congressional Budget Office estimates that more than 94 million Americans will be enrolled in FY2020.³⁶

Medicaid is jointly financed by the state and federal governments, with the federal contribution determined by a formula (the federal medical assistance percentage, or FMAP). FMAP allows states with lower per capita incomes relative to the national average to pay for a lower percentage of Medicaid costs.³⁷ There is no cap on federal contributions to a state's Medicaid funds, as Medicaid is an open-ended entitlement for states.

Medicaid has two primary delivery systems to provide enrollees with health care benefits: fee for service (FFS) and managed care. In FFS, the state Medicaid program directly pays providers for services rendered to Medicaid enrollees. In managed care, the state contracts with one or more managed care organizations (MCOs) to provide services to enrollees. The state typically pays MCOs a capitated rate based on number of enrollees in the plan for provision of health care services. Over time, the majority of states have shifted to a managed care delivery system, with more than two-thirds of enrollees now covered by an MCO.³⁸

How Medicaid Patients Access Cell and Gene Therapies

Health care benefits available to Medicaid enrollees vary state to state. There are some mandatory benefits that states must provide, while other benefits are optional.³⁹ State Medicaid programs are required to cover a list of mandatory benefits, including inpatient and outpatient hospital services, physician services, rural health clinic and federally qualified health center services, nursing facility and home health services, laboratory and X-ray services, transportation to medical care, and early and periodic screening, diagnostic, and treatment services (EPSDT) for children.⁴⁰ Many other benefits are optional in the program, including prescription drugs and other diagnostic, screening, preventative, and rehabilitative services.⁴¹

EPSDT. The EPSDT provisions ensure that children receive "all Medicaid coverable, appropriate, and medically necessary services needed to correct and ameliorate health conditions."⁴² For treatment, EPSDT requires that "necessary health care services must be made available for treatment of all physical and mental illnesses or conditions discovered by any screening and diagnostic procedures." States can establish guidelines for medical necessity decisions in EPSDT, but those parameters cannot be more restrictive than the federal statute.⁴³ EPSDT is especially relevant to the discussion of CGT coverage, as these requirements require states to cover therapies for certain rare conditions that are often discovered in children.⁴⁴ However, it is important to note that states may place limitations on coverage for purposes of utilization control, require prior authorization for certain services, and consider cost-effectiveness as part of its evaluation on prior authorization.⁴⁵ States may also limit access to experimental treatments or treatments outside acceptable medical practice. While "experimental" is not defined by the provisions, CMS says that states should use the "latest scientific informational available."⁴⁶

Outpatient Prescription Drugs. Although Medicaid drug coverage is optional, all states provide outpatient drug coverage for Medicaid patients.⁴⁷ Outpatient prescription drugs include those that are prescribed by a provider and dispensed by a pharmacy, not medications provided as part of an inpatient or nursing facility stay.

States may provide the pharmacy benefit in FFS or through MCOs. States can contract with vendors, such as MCOs, in carrying

out the pharmacy benefit, and many MCOs in turn subcontract with pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) to manage the pharmacy benefits. States that "carve in" the pharmacy benefit make MCOs responsible for pharmacy administration and costs within their capitated rate, while states that "carve out" the benefit opt to keep the pharmacy benefit in FFS and handle administration outside of the MCO. Managed care is becoming increasingly responsible for covering prescription drugs, but some states have opted to carve out or carve certain drugs out in recent years.⁴⁸ States have also increasingly used a combination of carve in and carve out to handle specialty high-cost therapies, like CGTs.⁴⁹ Reimbursement for prescription drugs may occur under either managed care or FFS, but states vary in reimbursement rates.⁵⁰Congress created the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to ensure that Medicaid would receive prescription drugs at the lowest or best price at which manufacturers sold the drug.⁵¹ In order to participate in the Program, manufacturers agree to enter into a drug rebate agreement with HHS in order to have their drug reimbursed by the Medicaid program.⁵² In return, states receiving prescription drugs at the discounted rate must generally agree to cover the manufacturer's products for FDA-approved indications. However, states are permitted to limit access to off-label indications and subject the drug to other limitations such as preferred drug lists (PDLs), prior authorization, quantity limits, and utilization management.⁵³

The federal rebate amounts collected are shared to states based on their current FMAP and a unit rebate amount (URA) times the number of units paid for the drug during the rebate period. To determine the URA, CMS utilizes separate rebate formulas for brand and generic drugs, which account for a basic rebate amount and an inflationary component. For brand name drugs, the rebate is 23.1% of Average Manufacturer Price (AMP) or AMP minus the "best price," which is the "lowest price available from the manufacturer during the rebate period to any wholesaler, retailer, provider, health maintenance organization, nonprofit entity, or governmental entity within the United States..."⁵⁴ For drugs specifically provided for pediatric indications, the rebate is 17.1% of AMP or AMP minus best price.⁵⁵ The rebate formulas for brand and pediatric-specific drugs ensures that the Medicaid program receives the lowest price for outpatient prescription drugs.

In addition to the rebates provided under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, most states have negotiated supplemental rebates with manufacturers.⁵⁶ Manufacturers typically provide these rebates to receive placement on the state's PDL. Supplemental rebates are calculated by subtracting the federal rebate and guaranteed price from the benchmark price.⁵⁷ More information on supplemental rebates is included with information on payment models in the next section.

Cell and Gene Coverage in Medicaid. Our research showed variation in whether CGTs are covered through inpatient drugs or through the pharmacy benefit in Medicaid. To address coverage for CGTs and other high-cost therapies, states and MCOs use several methods to ensure appropriate and medically necessary use of the therapy. Many states use advisory boards, known as Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committees (P&T Committees) and Drug Use Review (DUR) boards, to advise the Medicaid program. While the formality and responsibilities of these boards vary state to state, states generally use these boards for oversight and administration in Medicaid pharmacy benefits.⁵⁸

States use DUR programs to aid in ensuring that outpatient drug prescriptions are appropriate, medically necessary, and unlikely to result in adverse health outcomes.⁵⁹ In order to develop a formulary, states must use a DUR board or equivalent body of experts in determining which drugs are added.⁶⁰ DUR boards also support activities such as retrospective review, DUR standards, pharmacy and prescriber interventions, and corrections for clinical misuse, incorrect dosage, and duplicate prescriptions.⁶¹

States may also use a P&T Committee in review and development of coverage decisions for new therapies and preferred drug list (PDL) placement.⁶² There is variance across states in the DUR board and P&T Committee's roles in areas such as step therapy, prior authorization, review of utilization management tools,



and review of drugs approved through expedited review processes.⁶³ State-contracted MCOs may also use their own versions of P&T Committees, which can opt to provide more coverage for a therapy than the state.⁶⁴

States use coverage criteria, along with PDLs and formularies, as methods to manage the access and use of CGTs, ensure appropriate utilization, and manage risk. Some states are statutorily limited on prior authorization requirements that can be placed on certain classes of therapies.

Specialty Pharmacy. CGTs are a special class of therapies due not only to their high cost, but also to the complexities needed to administer the therapies. As described above, states



sometimes carve out CGTs from managed care, and MCOs will sometimes also utilize special coverage policies for dealing with CGT administration. One method utilized by states and MCOs is specialty pharmacy. Specialty pharmacies are "distinct from traditional pharmacies in coordinating many aspects of patient care and disease management. They are designed to efficiently deliver medications with special filling, storage, and distribution requirements with standardized processes that permit economies of scale."⁶⁵ States utilize preferred specialty pharmacies for the distribution of CGTs in FFS or carve-out drugs, and MCOs also have specialty pharmacy networks to handle specialty pharmacy products.⁶⁶

Site of Service. Given the expertise needed in certain diseases that require CGTs, sometimes providers are focused in academic medical centers (AMCs) and what are known as Centers of Excellence (CoEs). CoEs are providers or groups of providers within health care institutions that "supply exceptionally high concentrations of expertise and related resources centered on particular medical areas."⁶⁷ The CoE model for CGTs aims to standardize specialized care for CGTs and ensure consistent quality,⁶⁸ but it can also mean more limited access to CGT administration for Medicaid beneficiaries who do not live close to a CoE and must travel to access treatment.⁶⁹

Payment Approaches for Medicaid-Covered Drugs

Even before the pandemic, Medicaid directors stated that covering expensive therapies like CGTs was a major concern and began exploring alternative financing models to help pay for these therapies. To address the costs of pharmaceutical drugs, several states, MCOs, and manufacturers have worked to develop payment strategies to find new ways to pay for the expensive therapies. Much of this work began several years ago and focused on specialty drugs, and over time, several strategies have emerged which show promise: subscription models, outcome-based models, and supplemental rebate agreements.

Subscription Models. Subscription models, also informally referred to as "Netflix" models, allow for a state to enter into an agreement with a manufacturer to pay a negotiated flat price for a certain volume of a drug (potentially unlimited) for a specified period of time, rather than paying per unit of that drug.⁷⁰ Benefits of this structure include predictability for state Medicaid budgets on cost to the program, and an exemption of the additional rebated amount from manufacturers from being included in the calculation of Medicaid best price. The benefits to the state may be particularly notable where the therapy is curative, as those for hepatitis C are, and where the state has a large population of individuals with the disease to cover.

Two states thus far have utilized this payment structure in covering hepatitis C treatments for their Medicaid populations. CMS approved a state plan amendment (SPA) for Louisiana to utilize a subscription model to cover hepatitis C treatments for its Medicaid and correction populations.⁷¹ Louisiana then contracted with a manufacturer, agreeing to pay a lump sum in exchange for the number of therapies needed to treat patients from 2019-2024.⁷² CMS also approved a SPA for Washington,⁷³ which then contracted with another manufacturer using a similar contract.⁷⁴

Supplemental Rebate Agreements. Supplemental rebates are another approach that allows states to seek deeper discounts from manufacturers. CMS permits states to enter into supplemental rebate agreements provided that the "agreements achieve drug rebates equal to or greater than the drug rebates" set forth in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program.⁷⁵ States often use a prior authorization program as leverage in seeking a supplemental rebate from the manufacturer. Currently, 46 states report using supplemental rebates, with many utilizing a purchasing pool to handle negotiations with manufacturers.⁷⁶ 30 states have entered into multi-state purchasing pools in an effort to increase negotiating leverage.⁷⁷ States also allow MCOs and PBMs to negotiate supplemental rebates.

Outcomes-Based Models. States have also begun to receive CMS approval for value-based arrangements for supplemental rebates to handle the cost of expensive therapies. Oklahoma,⁷⁸ Michigan,⁷⁹ Colorado,⁸⁰ and Massachusetts⁸¹ all received approval for SPAs that allow the state to enter into value-based purchasing arrangements with a manufacturer that could produce supplemental rebates if clinical outcomes are not achieved.

CURRENT CHALLENGES

A Pandemic and a Recession

State Medicaid programs across the country are filled with many talented leaders and dedicated public servants. Yet this year has tested many Medicaid program staff in unprecedented ways. The scope and breadth of challenges facing many state Medicaid programs today has perhaps never been greater. Hammered by the twin crises of the COVID-19 public health emergency and a precipitous drop in state revenues due to reduced economic activity, state Medicaid program staff have been triaging problems and working around the clock for months. Many of these staff have been working to adjust policies and program requirements to help shore up the delivery systems and payment policies that enable Medicaid patients to continue receiving needed care.

States are taking actions to shore up their Medicaid provider networks, leverage telehealth, and help ensure patients receive care – all while the total number of patients Medicaid programs are responsible for continues to increase. Recent data from CMS shows that about 4 million more individuals enrolled in Medicaid in the first few months of the pandemic.⁸² While the massive increases in Medicaid enrollment projected at the outset of the pandemic have not materialized at the rate expected due to a range of factors, many experts expect enrollment will continue to increase in coming months.⁸³

While the COVID-19 public health and economic crises have placed unique strain on state Medicaid program leadership, even in the best of times, states face a range of operational and programmatic challenges that can constrain program leaders' ability to drive positive change. Medicaid programs have limited resources due to state budget and federal rules that match half of administrative costs. Efficient management and lean overhead expenses are admirable goals, but budget and political dynamics can make it more challenging for states to sufficiently invest in the knowledge, capacity, and staff that oversee the program. With Medicaid programs often constituting about one in every four state dollars in the state budget, building capacity by investing in expert staff and program administrators is a responsible investment.

Increasing Demands on Medicaid Program Leaders

According to a 2019 survey by the National Association of State Medicaid Directors (NAMD), only about half of the Medicaid directors previously worked in the program before taking on their role.⁸⁴ As a result, less than half of directors reported having "very extensive" knowledge of Medicaid before becoming a director, and one-third would only characterize their knowledge as "moderate." Many directors reported that it would have been helpful to better understand several dynamics before starting their job, including CMS waivers and authorities, Medicaid financing details, and the Medicaid agency structure, function, and processes.

Medicaid directors often benefit from a dedicated leadership team that helps them oversee their state's program. According the 2019 survey, more than half of Medicaid directors reported that their leadership team included a Medical Director, Deputy Director, Policy Director, Managed Care Director, Chief Financial Officer, and Information Technology (IT) Director. While working with a team of direct reports to help manage the program is important, the quality of that team can come up short. For example, even though managed care is a dominant form of the Medicaid delivery system today, the majority of Medicaid directors reported that their leadership team had only a moderate, mixed, or even low level of experience in managed care procurement.

In this environment, many Medicaid program leaders find it challenging to think beyond the next 12-18 months, but many are trying.⁸⁵ The 2019 NAMD survey reported that Medicaid directors' top strategic program management priorities were "1) delivery system and payment reform; 2) behavioral health reforms, including integration with medical care and managed care; and 3) Medicaid Management Information System (MMIS) and eligibility systems implementation and operations."⁸⁶ These priorities certainly are "multi-year, transformative efforts that require sustained effort, staff, and financial resources," but hidden beneath the headlines is directors' growing awareness of the burgeoning pipeline of CGT and what it may mean for their Medicaid program.⁸⁷ Many directors articulated the important goal of "strategic sustainability" of their program as well – which is a critically important dynamic to consider specifically for CGTs in the Medicaid program.⁸⁸

The High Cost of Innovative Cures and Therapies

Perhaps one of the most clear and persistent challenges that surfaced in our interviews was the subject of the price of CGT, and the cost to the Medicaid program. During the interviews for this white paper, it was acknowledged that pricing was a challenge for Medicaid programs – both with regard to the high cost of individual CGTs and with regard to ensuring sustainable program access for Medicaid patients to future CGTs. Experts underscored the need to modernize the 20th-century Medicaid payment policies so that state Medicaid programs are able to provide access to 21st-century innovative cures and treatments. They drew from their insights and general experience with high-cost curative drugs in Medicaid (such as recently approved drugs to cure Hepatitis C), as well as their specific experience with the handful of CGTs on the market.

Interview subjects consistently expressed appreciation for the value of many new therapies for curing disease and improving the lives of Medicaid patients, while also voicing concern about the price of such drugs and the costs to the program. Researchers at the Duke-Margolis Center for Health Policy have noted two acute challenges for state Medicaid programs. First, "state Medicaid programs may recognize the downstream health benefits of broader access to a drug, but tight budget constraints may nonetheless limit their ability to pay more now – even if the up-front payments are linked to long-term reductions in Medicaid costs from avoided complications."⁸⁹ Second, CGTs could create a cumulative strain on the budget: as the number of cures and groundbreaking therapies available to Medicaid patients continues to grow, the program costs will likely accumulate higher and higher over time as well. Duke-Margolis noted that "State budgets (including a state's Medicaid budget) are set in advance for one- to two-year periods by legislative vote, and many states cannot effectively run annual deficits, so even a small number of patients requiring high-cost transformative treatments could potentially require states to divert funds from other important public priorities in order to provide coverage for new therapies."⁹⁰

Experts we interviewed stressed the same dynamics. They emphasized the need for policy and payment solutions that recognize the equities and needs of each Medicaid stakeholder. As the MIT NEWDIGS initiative has succinctly summarized, "understanding the payer perspective and the challenges they face in delivering affordable healthcare coverage while ensuring access to medical innovation is critical to the sustainability of research and development of new cures."⁹¹

Experts noted that Medicaid program leaders are often drawn to work in the Medicaid program out of a sense of public service and personal mission – they want to make a difference and help improve the lives of their neighbors in their communities and across their states. Yet given the cost of many new groundbreaking drugs, they also bear a weighty responsibility to ensure that the Medicaid program budget remains adequate to fund the health coverage and long-term care of thousands of other patients who do not benefit from CGT. In the eyes of program leaders, the intertwined issues of cost and access are particularly acute in the realm of Medicaid, which cares for some of the most vulnerable patients with rare conditions and diseases who could benefit from CGT. Several interview subjects observed irony in the reality that drug manufacturers set a price while Medicaid bears the requirement to cover all FDA-approved drugs. In some cases, the high costs of innovative CGTs, when applied to a large number of patients, can amount to a substantial program cost that begins to compete with other state Medicaid policy priorities, as well as with state non-Medicaid policy priorities (e.g., other areas of significant state expenditures, such as the criminal justice system, infrastructure, education, and transportation).

Manufacturers and researchers we interviewed highlighted the challenges of trying to price a new CGT while navigating the labyrinth of policy and payment considerations such as the role of rebates, prices in different market segments, the role of Medicaid best price in impacting non-Medicaid prices, and other dynamics. Many experts pointed out the fundamental difference between the economics of supporting the time and money invested in research and development for a drug that would be widely prescribed to millions of Americans, and the economics of funding a CGT that may cure a rare disease but only apply to a few hundred or thousand individuals

nationwide. Several experts noted that CGTs currently in the pipeline to treat sickle cell disease or relatively common cancers present fundamentally bigger challenges to the economics of Medicaid drug coverage.

One especially challenging dynamic that experts discussed was differing views of "value" for the price of a CGT. In some cases, a curative CGT may be life-giving for an individual patient. However, any medical savings or economic benefit from that patient being healed accrues to that patient's community or workplace, or even society more generally, but not to Medicaid. There are some cases in which curative CGTs benefit pediatric populations, and they may reduce projected Medicaid costs that would otherwise be associated with a specific child who would remain on Medicaid if left untreated. But generally, when drug manufacturers set the metrics for value of a CGT, they are often assessing the broader general effects rather than the more narrow and specific savings that might accrue to the Medicaid program. General economic arguments or value-of-life arguments have their merit and place to be sure, but such economic arguments are not often calibrated to reflect the *costs or savings to Medicaid*. Moreover, other "value" assessments, "such as comparative effectiveness and incremental cost-effectiveness, cannot be determined for first and only treatments for a condition, which may be a relevant issue for gene therapies."⁹²

However, more broadly, experts interviewed generally underscored the intrinsic value of each patient life. They agreed patients need access to CGT and underscored that the value of a particular therapy to a specific patient could be life-giving and transformative. Several experts stressed that these realities also have to be held in balances with the operational budget realities of running a program.

Several experts talked about the importance and challenges of leveraging existing claims data from clinical trial patients to better build out a data-driven assessment of what other associated medical or long-term care costs that are borne by Medicaid might be recouped or reduced if a patient receives a CGT. Finally, a challenge that drug manufacturers face is adopting a pricing strategy that enables some return on investment and even reinvestment in new R&D without creating a price barrier that ultimately results in a delay in patients accessing CGT. Ultimately, the benefits of CGT will not be realized unless patients have access to them. "A treatment that is unavailable to patients who need it has no value at all."⁹³



Lack of Visibility of CGT Candidates in Development

One of the persistent challenges identified through our interviews with experts is that many Medicaid programs lack consistent and accurate visibility into the CGT development pipeline. While public information on the pipeline does exist, it requires proactive, dedicated, consistent monitoring of the complexities of emerging products in order to generate meaningful insights about CGTs in the long term. While some programs undertake this challenge, this longer-term focus on products under development (some of which may fail in a clinical trial and not be approved) is often beyond the planning horizon of Medicaid programs.

Many Medicaid programs focus on a 12 to 24-month time horizon built around state budget and program procurement cycles. They often find it challenging to dedicate time to maintain visibility on an individual CGT product's progression through clinical trials, much less wrap their heads around the potential impacts of the growing CGT pipeline. Also, with faster approval time frames for therapies, Medicaid directors have less time to factor high-cost therapies into the state's Medicaid budget. "The current coverage and reimbursement system is focused on a 12-month cycle and is not structured to recognize interventions with value that accrues over years or decades... precision financing tools that target the specific challenges of each payer segment will be needed. These tools will be facilitated by addressing regulatory and operational barriers."⁹⁴

Variance in the Use of Clinical Evidence

While speedier FDA reviews of new medical products are important to some, including patients, since they can accelerate access to new cures and therapies, experts we talked with explained how the increasing use of expedited review and approval pathways presents novel challenges. For example, in some cases a new therapy may receive approval well in advance of Medicaid program anticipation, and the need to cover the new drug is disruptive to current budgets or capitated arrangements with Medicaid MCOs.



Some experts also discussed how greater use of surrogate endpoints presents an unintended challenge from a Medicaid program perspective for the coverage of some therapies for rare diseases. FDA-approved drugs receive approval through a traditional clinical trial's endpoints (which measure the outcomes in the trial), or through "surrogate endpoints," which are used when the clinical outcomes might take a long time to study or are otherwise well understood.⁹⁵ When surrogate endpoints are used in approving a drug, Medicaid clinical experts may be left playing catch-up in order to understand the drug's label, its efficacy in a clinical trial, and any pharmacogenomic implications.

Research has indicated that "the most important aspects of value (for managed care executives) that would drive their decisions about covering gene therapies, are the magnitude of effect on key treatment endpoints (i.e., efficacy and/or benefit), duration of the effect, safety, and cost. Payers are also interested in seeing improvements in productivity and reduced care burden."⁹⁶ Furthermore, because many CGTs are intended to treat or cure rare conditions (which inherently only affect relatively few Americans), the clinical trials for such approvals may be relatively small compared to

traditional Phase III trials. In such cases, Medicaid pharmacy and medical leaders may only have a few dozen people in a clinical trial to inform their understanding of the drug's effects. This smaller clinical trial can result in states having a harder time feeling comfortable with broad conclusions for coverage and payment – especially when it comes to rare conditions.

The results of one survey of payers reported that "fast-tracked therapies were noted as being accepted with, what is viewed as, an incomplete evidence package, particularly in rare disease or protected product class scenarios," which often leads to "much greater emphasis on how the product would be managed in terms of step therapies and other access restrictions."⁹⁷ These payers also reported that there may be "delays associated with uncertainties in product assessment that have the potential to delay decisions by 6 to 12 months."⁹⁸

Certainly, differences over how to best interpret and act on the available clinical evidence when a drug is approved remains a major challenge in Medicaid programs. As previously noted, although Medicaid programs are required to cover all FDA-approved drugs,

there is wide variation in how and when those drugs are covered. The same drug for the same patient populations in two different states can result in two very different levels of access to that drug.

Medicaid program and plan perspectives often stress the need for detailed clinical information to ensure appropriate utilization of new cures and therapies. They emphasize that such insight is especially important given the economic incentives for manufacturers to get drugs covered and the lack of lower-cost competitors for new drugs on the market.

Many manufacturers and patient advocates, on the other hand, point to the curative effects and life-transforming benefits of new CGTs. They worry about state programs and Medicaid plans using tools like prior authorization, special formularies, and fail-first methods that too often restrain timely access to new treatments for some patients.

Medicaid plan and program experts highlighted the challenge of sorting through competing claims on the appropriate target population, estimated disease burden in a given state, amount of pent-up demand, and durability of the curative treatments for Hepatitis C. Experts across the spectrum of Medicaid stakeholders pointed to the need for drug manufacturers to collect and share as much information as possible on the durability of specific therapies and drugs with Medicaid programs.

Additionally, several experts noted that FDA uses more than just limited clinical trial data when developing the label, but that information is often not shared with states. As a result, some states' clinical process may inadvertently be redoing some of the analysis that FDA already conducts.

Geographic Barriers to Accessing Health Care Providers

It is widely understood that certain geographic dynamics can effectively create barriers to timely access to care in the health care system. For example, a perennial focus of policymakers is ensuring patients in rural and underserved areas have access to care. While these dynamics exist in health care generally, the challenges are exacerbated for Medicaid patients needing access to CGT.

Many CGTs may be administered through a Centers of Excellence (CoE) model, which relies on health care providers delivering CGT and associated care at a few specific locations that are streamlined to provide specialized services. For example, in many cases, CGTs may be administered at academic medical centers (AMCs) where health care providers have the appropriate training and resources to ensure the patient receives a successful treatment. While AMCs provide access to highly qualified health care providers, they are often centered only within major cities in a given state – potentially leaving sick Medicaid patients in other parts of the state in a "care desert" for their condition. Such patients face the challenges of substantial travel time and cost (including overnight stays) in order to receive care. In addition to experts we spoke with, MIT NEWDIG's FoCUS Project analysis included broad patient access to CGT "regardless of geography" as a major challenge for CGTs.⁹⁹

For patients seeking to access a CGT in a state other than where they reside, the complexities are multiplied. In many cases, while individual state Medicaid programs may have reciprocal agreements with neighboring state Medicaid programs for providing routine care to Medicaid patients, states find it extremely challenging to maintain multiple arrangements for CGT with AMCs and children's hospitals across numerous other states.

Individual state Medicaid programs are required to screen and enroll health care providers in Medicaid according to federal and state rules. These rules are designed to exclude providers who do not meet minimum standards and protect programs from fraud, waste, and abuse. Yet, these important requirements also inadvertently increase the administrative time and expense necessary to ensure that patients in need of CGT treatments in a neighboring state can receive it. Importantly, the increased administrative time and costs are borne not only by state programs, who must have arrangements in place with providers, but also by the many AMCs and children's hospitals that must maintain arrangements with states.

Further complicating this issue is the fact that states and hospitals often find it necessary to make multiple arrangements with one another, each related to a specific CGT therapy for a specific number of patients. In some cases, states and providers even have a "single case agreement" – a highly tailored contractual arrangement designed just to enable a single patient to receive the benefit of a CGT.

Administrative challenges are real, but the CoE model also comes with significant structural challenges. There are a limited number of locations where CGT treatments are provided in a high-quality manner and a limited number of sites that run trials effectively.

Thus, potentially even more challenging than the barrier that a CoE model may represent for an individual Medicaid patient, is the strain this delivery system model will face in accommodating future CGTs that will involve substantially higher patient volumes (such as potential treatments for sickle cell and cancer that are in the pipeline). Already, institutional tensions sometimes arise between Medicaid programs, managed care plans, AMCs, and children's hospitals over reimbursement rates and payment models. Increased numbers of patients being driven through CoEs could further exacerbate those tensions.

More broadly, the very nature of Medicaid's state-by-state administration presents challenges. Many experts noted that the stateby-state variation creates a near inability to scale payment and coverage improvements across multiple states – whether they are trying to scale a simple coverage policy or a specific value-based arrangement. In some cases, the unique nature of each state Medicaid program's specific requirements for CGT (including prior authorization, travel, etc.) can prevent Medicaid patients from receiving access to CGT in as timely a manner as similar patients enrolled in commercial coverage.

CMS has at times acknowledged the challenges of ensuring appropriate, coordinated care for patients across state lines. In January 2020, CMS issued a Request for Information (RFI) regarding "coordination of care from out-of-state providers for Medicaid-eligible children with medically complex conditions."¹⁰⁰ While CMS's focus in this RFI is on pediatric populations (not patients on CGT *per se*), many of the insights and observations provided in response to the RFI could be used to help CMS and states ensure more coordinated care for patients accessing CGT outside the state in which they reside.

Qualified Health Care Providers

The delivery of CGT medicine often requires on-site administration and cannot be easily provided off campus. Outside of a CoE model, many health care providers may lack the sophistication and training necessary to be successful in delivering high-quality care and providing CGT to patients. Even talented medical professionals need a mix of specific training and a supportive infrastructure of staff, facilities, and revenue streams to enable them to provide CGT. Many hospitals find the provision of CGT to be challenging to resource, operationalize, and sustain, as there are many extra internal steps in the delivery of care as well as externalities which must be addressed.

Another challenge is that for a period, new CGTs often lack reporting and billing codes that are specific to the new therapy. "Irrespective of the potential impact of a therapy, if it does not fit into existing coding and payment systems, this can represent a substantial acceptance and uptake hurdle for manufacturers, providers and patients."¹⁰¹ Absence of timing specific codes was "noted as a challenge for novel CAR-T therapies" even though "requirements for using a non-specific code, can also result in underpayment and risk to providers and manufacturers alike." Under such

and risk to providers and manufacturers alike." Under su conditions, hospitals take a significant risk in providing these therapies where (a) reimbursement is uncertain and (b) not all aspects of procedural expense may be sufficiently paid, even if the product is reimbursed.¹⁰² Thus, providers face an unfavorable choice: wait to get the right codes in place, which may result in delayed care for patients, or proceed with providing CGT for a patient and risk a denial of reimbursement under existing codes until new codes are assigned. Even large, sophisticated health systems may struggle with these dynamics.

Additionally, hospitals face reimbursement challenges in the provision of CGT, since their margin on an inpatient bundle may be smaller than if it were provided in an outpatient setting.¹⁰³ Yet payers also report paying substantial markups that can be significantly higher than a provider's acquisition cost if providers purchase a drug and then bill the payer for the drug at a higher rate that builds in the cost of administration.



Health Care Disparities and Structural Racial Inequities

In a year in which the COVID-19 public health emergency has laid bare many preexisting inequities in our health care system, numerous experts we interviewed voiced concerns that current structural disparities and racial inequities may prevent Medicaid patients from receiving equitable access to CGT. In the worst-case scenario, health care disparities and structural racial inequities may prevent thousands, even millions, of Americans in communities of color from receiving timely, fair, and equitable access to CGT.

This troubling dynamic is especially worrisome in the case of sickle cell disease, which affects about 100,000 Americans and disproportionately impacts black Americans.¹⁰⁴ There are numerous promising CGT candidates in the development pipeline that hold promise to roll back the worst effects of sickle cell disease. Yet if current practices and trends are allowed to persist, structural inequities and implicit bias could prevent thousands of Americans from receiving needed treatment.



Coverage of Supportive Wraparound Services

Many patients who have identified a qualified health care provider operating a CoE to administer a CGT for their disease face logistical challenges, such as affordable lodging and family transport, loss of income during time away from work, or inability to stay for multiple days. Patients also frequently lack access to decision support tools, including information specific to their disease or condition that might improve their understanding and adherence to follow-up care. Currently, Medicaid patients and their families are forced to pay out of pocket for the costs of many support services, or to rely on charitable assistance from non-profits, friends, or family. The cost of support services may be modest in some cases, but can quickly add up for patients needing to stay overnight or over a period of days, or who must frequently return to the health care provider for related follow-up care. Compared with the cost of the therapy given to the patient, support services may cost a tiny fraction of amount but help increase patient adherence to follow-up care protocols, avoid infections or complications, and provide greater piece of mind.

Experts identified the current web of rules under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and related regulations as a barrier to patients receiving the help they need. The combined effect of such rules pertaining to federal health care programs is to essentially prohibit health industry stakeholders from financially assisting patients with covering the costs of valuable support services.

Many patients who receive CGT must be monitored over time. This monitoring may be required as part of the FDA's postmarket surveillance, a value-based payment arrangement, a patient registry, or it may be the clinical standard of care to avoid complications. In some cases, the CoE where the patient received the care may not have especially cost-effective or accessible primary care services. Additionally, there are often challenges in determining which providers are responsible for the follow-up monitoring, tracking responsibilities, and costs – whether these fall to the state, a research-based organization, or some other entity. MCOs can also find it challenging to cover the costs of support services, based on whether such services are classified as administrative expenses or directly tied to the medical benefits of the patient.

Medicaid Managed Care Challenges

Today, about two-thirds of Medicaid patients are enrolled in managed health plans (or managed care organizations, MCOs).¹⁰⁵ Experts we interviewed underscored notable differences between the challenges faced by smaller regional MCOs compared to those faced by large national MCOs with respect to coverage of and payment for CGTs. The challenges of both large and small MCOs are noteworthy because while a handful of large national plans cover roughly half of the lives enrolled in Medicaid MCOs, there are a large number of small regionally based plans that provide care for millions of Medicaid patients.

Some research suggests that the process for evidence assessment for Medicaid MCOs who are large national plans essentially tracks the same process it does for their commercial plans. However, large MCOs may have more resources to commit to develop value-based payment (VBP) arrangements.¹⁰⁶ Large national plans may also have the market leverage and sophistication needed to work with a state to drive economies of scale for VBP, while smaller plans lack these assets.¹⁰⁷ Furthermore, whereas larger MCOs may only see a handful of patients each year with a rare condition that is treated by a CGT, smaller Medicaid MCOs may see even fewer and find it more challenging to establish the capabilities to manage them. Smaller MCOs may have an advantage when it comes to forming close relationships with local health care providers across a specific geography. Yet they may struggle to develop the internal capacities needed to effectively contract with the state, manufacturers, or providers around VBP.

Another potential challenge for Medicaid MCOs is that small regional plans in a particular state may be disproportionately impacted by the emergence of a CGT for a patient population that is especially prevalent in that geography. For example, it is not too difficult to imagine that when a successful CGT arrives on the market to cure or rollback sickle cell disease, Medicaid MCOs will be impacted differently based on their patient populations.¹⁰⁸

A perennial challenge for the Medicaid program and MCOs remains the significant number of Medicaid patients who drop in and out of eligibility based on changes in income. Research in recent years has "highlighted the potential for adults with incomes near the ACA's Medicaid eligibility threshold to experience changes in insurance coverage as they transition between qualifying for Medicaid and qualifying for subsidized private insurance offered through health benefit exchanges."¹⁰⁹ While this churning in and out is not a new phenomenon for Medicaid, as a program for which eligibility is based largely on income levels, the reality of the churn presents several challenges with respect to MCOs covering and paying for CGT.

We will highlight three challenges briefly. First, as the MIT NEWDIGS research has noted, "Medicaid payers are least likely to reap the reward of medical cost offsets resulting from the use of durable therapies because members of the plan are often transient."¹¹⁰ Second, patients who receive CGT in Medicaid and then exit the program to a private source of health coverage could see an increase in their out-of-pocket costs for such treatment, a change in their network of providers, or a change in coverage policy altogether. Third, Medicaid patients benefitting from CGT who churn in and out of the program may be harder to track for follow-up care or monitoring to assess outcomes tied to a VBP arrangement.

Several experts we interviewed discussed the importance of reinsurance and risk corridors as tools that MCOs can use to address the actuarial uncertainty that may accompany new CGTs. Experts stressed that these financial levers are simply tactical tools that enabled MCOs a bit more stability, not long-term strategies sufficient to address broader program concerns about how to appropriately ensure sustainability and access over time. On the one hand, reliance on commercial reinsurance over a longer period would likely just drive up the premium and rate structure.¹¹¹ On the other hand, reliance on a state to act as a reinsurer, essentially as a backstop for MCOs, is likewise unsustainable since this approach saddles the state with escalating costs. Both Medicaid program and MCO experts stressed the challenge of actuarial imprecision when a new CGT has been approved, since there is little experience with the treatment, and it has not been made widely available to beneficiaries.

Tied closely to general concerns over the high cost of CGTs are apprehensions about how durable the benefit of a new CGT may be. MIT's NEWDIGS, which has published meaningful insights and analysis of the challenges created by CGT, highlighted this concern among Medicaid MCOs and other payers. In the results of a payer survey, MIT NEWDIGS noted that payers were roughly as concerned about a drug's effectiveness and durability as they were about the total cost to the MCO of the drug itself. They also ranked concerns about the actuarial risk being very high.¹¹² At the intersection of these issues, payers expressed concern that the offsets (based on reducing other spending associated with the patient in Medicaid within a specific timeframe) might not offset the high cost of the treatment itself. In a 2019 survey reported earlier this year, more than three-fourths of Medicaid MCO leaders said their level of concern over managing the financial risk and impact of high-cost durable therapies like CGT was "high" or "extremely high."¹¹³ As a result of all these concerns, many Medicaid MCOs institute utilization protocols that are more restrictive than the FDA label. In reporting the findings from one of their surveys, MIT NEWDIGS noted that 54% of Medicaid plans reported utilization management that was more restrictive than the label, with 44% covering as specified in the label.¹¹⁴ MACPAC research has found that Medicaid applies utilization management tools at a rate similar to or higher than other payers.¹¹⁵ However, in some cases, Medicaid may have patients receiving a CGT who are more vulnerable than patients covered by other payers – either because such Medicaid patients have a more fragile socioeconomic position or because they face significant barriers to care related to the social determinants of health.



Barriers to Value-Based Payment Arrangements for CGT

VBP arrangements are important for CGT in two key ways. First, they enable the alignment of payment based on value (cost, quality, outcomes) for a specific CGT and can also help generate evidence for value over time. Second, VBP arrangements help reduce some of the budgetary pressure on the Medicaid program by only paying for specific outcomes over time. Experts we interviewed broadly agreed that VBP arrangements were a very important tool for Medicaid programs to help enable access to CGT. Thus, in addition to the broad range of challenges identified thus far, it is important to examine a few other specific challenges to Medicaid's use of VBP for CGT.

Medicaid Paying Over Time. One of the most fundamental challenges to VBP is that there is no simple way for Medicaid programs to pay over time for CGT. Today, states can enter into supplemental rebate agreements with drug manufacturers that build upon the requirements in the existing Medicaid drug rebate program. The details are usually addressed between the state and manufacturer and while supplemental rebate agreements require CMS approval, additional savings to the state does not trigger the requirement in federal statute that drug manufacturers provide Medicaid their best price. While these supplemental rebate agreements are necessary and important, they cannot adequately address the need under VBP for a state to be able to pay a manufacturer over time for a particular CGT.

Medicaid Best Price. On a related subject, experts widely identified Medicaid's best price requirement as a structural challenge in the greater adoption of VBP for CGT. Congress created the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program in 1990 to ensure that Medicaid would receive a net price as low as the lowest or "best price" for which manufacturers sold the drug to any wholesaler, retailer, provider, or paying entity (except for certain governmental payers).¹¹⁶ The best price requirement is included in the Medicaid drug rebate (for brand drugs) such that if a brand drug's "best price is lower than 23.1% below AMP, then the best price generates a higher basic rebate which applies to all Medicaid utilization of the drug" in that quarter of the year.¹¹⁷ Importantly, in contrast to other aggregate calculations, the calculation of Medicaid's best price requirement applies to each of the drug manufacturer's products and contacts with payers or providers. This means that a change in a single contact could trigger a change in Medicaid best price and affect a manufacturer's liability to pay across the entire Medicaid program.

While the Medicaid best price mechanism may have represented an attempt to ensure that the safety net program is an economical payer, it has been widely viewed as hampering manufacturers of CGT from entering into VBP arrangements with Medicaid and other payers. Medicaid's best price requirement is viewed as such a barrier to VBP that CMS has released a regulatory proposal which would redefine "best price" with the goal of enabling more VBP.¹¹⁸ The proposed regulation has received more than 30,000 comments.¹¹⁹

Researchers from the Duke Margolis Center for Health Policy explained that "if total discounts on any unit of the drug involved in a VBP arrangement result in a MBP that is lower than 23.1 percent below AMP, the manufacturer would be required to extend that discount to all of Medicaid."¹²⁰ Put simply, "to fully align payment for a product with that product's actual value, VBP arrangements likely need to offer substantial rebates; however, implying that a product's failure to perform in one patient may effectually lower pricing across all markets may prove to be an unsustainable pricing practice." They provided an example scenario to illustrate why the best price requirement is such a challenge: imagine "an arrangement between a drug manufacturer and a payer wherein the manufacturer agrees to a tiered rebate structure that depends on the drug meeting a range of agreed-upon clinical outcomes."¹²¹ "Different combinations of outcomes could yield different rebates, based on negotiations between the manufacturer and provider/ payer... But any rebate greater than 23.1 percent would require the manufacturer to offer the same rebate in all Medicaid contracts, even though the VBP arrangement was intended to be limited and offered in conjunction with new opportunities for value creation..."¹²²

The Anti-Kickback Statute. Another major barrier to VBP arrangements for CGT in Medicaid identified by experts we interviewed was the Anti-Kickback Statute (AKS). Under this statute, it is a felony for a person to knowingly and willfully offer, pay, solicit, or receive anything of value ("remuneration") in return for a referral or to induce generation of business reimbursable under a federal health care program.¹²³ While the AKS does include some limited safe harbors, it was created decades before the emergence of VBP and presents a challenge for "implementation of VBP arrangements since their potential for increased value often depends on some degree of coordination and sharing of resources between the contracting parties."¹²⁴ Experts we spoked with explained the AKS is a barrier to manufacturers that are financially supporting systems and processes important for VBP, such as electronic health records, patient monitoring efforts, software and analytics, data tools, and other materials.



In addition to these significant challenges in federal policy, experts were virtually unanimous in highlighting the need for stronger outcome assessment data for CGT, in order to more accurately gauge value when new therapies come to market, and better inform ongoing coverage and payment efforts. Specifically, payers, providers, patients, plans, and state Medicaid programs often want more granular and specific information on how efficacious a drug's curative or transformative effect is among specific patient subpopulations, as well the durability of this effect. More robust outcomes data for each CGT is challenging to trace and collect in many cases because of variation in how this data is tracked by states or in new patient registries.

While VBP for CGT holds promise for more closely linking Medicaid program payment to patient outcomes, there is a real tension between the long-term benefit to an individual patient and the high, upfront cost to the program. Many experts stressed that the complexity, uncertainty, and imprecision of trying to design a VBP that would track outcomes and pay accordingly over a four-year or five-year period led them to conclude that the most VBP arrangements could stretch would be two, maybe three years. Experts noted the challenges of patients churning in and out of Medicaid, tracking patient outcomes over a long-time horizon, and other challenges.

The emphasis on a nearer-term contract period tracks with the views of payers, as well. Releasing the results earlier this year from a survey of financial and clinical health plan leaders (including many Medicaid MCOs), the MIT NEWDIGS Initiative found that, in general, "payers are motivated to manage the financial risk associated with high-cost durable one-time treatments differently, making this a high priority."¹²⁵ The survey found that "payers were most interested in short-term milestone-based contracts, defined as contracts of less than two years duration where the therapy is paid for upfront and the plan receives refunds tied to performance."¹²⁶

Yet one of the persistent challenges in outcomes-based contracts is identifying concrete outcomes that are clinically relevant, measurable, and that can be identified in the near term. Experts we talked with stressed that there are few appropriate short-term metrics that measure long-term outcomes. "Increased lifespan" or "greater quality of life" is too nebulous and non-specific of an outcome on which to base payment. There is a need to track patient-centered outcomes (such as improvements with activities of daily living, greater reported quality of life, increased rest and alertness, etc.) along with program-centered outcomes (such as reduced inpatient hospital length of stay, reduced utilization of the emergency room, reduced use of other funded support services, etc.).



Challenges to Achieving Scale. Finally, experts stressed the problem that many VBPs for CGT are one-off agreements between a plan or provider and a manufacturer, or between a state and a provider. There are challenges to achieving scale in VBP and accumulated shared learnings that allow the Medicaid program and MCO to drive VBP forward at scale. While researchers from MIT NEWDIGS and the Duke Margolis Center for Health Policy are conducting important work to examine "aspects of value assessment and payment models and some manufacturers are advancing new payment models (e.g., multi-year payback periods), the reality is that the next wave of therapies may enter in greater numbers into a system that has not developed payment models to handle them in volume. Based on the evidence of early uptake of the initial vanguard of therapies, more work is warranted to move away from one-off solutions to more predictable and broadly applicable payment approaches."127

MODERNIZATIONS TO REALIZE THE PROMISE OF CELL AND GENE THERAPY

In light of the many and varied operational, policy, financial, cultural, administrative, technological, and programmatic challenges presented regarding sustainable access to CGT for Medicaid patients, it can be daunting to trace a path forward. Experts we interviewed expressed the sentiment that stakeholders interested in improving the access to and sustainability of CGT for Medicaid patients must simultaneously keep their feet grounded in the details of very real structural and situational challenges, while also keeping their eye on the promise of CGT. CGT is a new frontier of science, and these treatments have opened a new world of hope and help for many Americans served by Medicaid.

One goal that leaders across the range of Medicaid stakeholders articulated is to collaborate with peers to identify and move forward on actionable, incremental improvements to address the many challenges facing patients and stakeholders in the program. Through patient work and quiet dedication by a cross-sector group of health care leaders, specific actions can be taken that will show benefit over time. These actions can accumulate and even gather momentum over time, helping transition a 20th-century coverage and payment model into one that keeps pace with the scientific advancement of the 21st century. Collaborative action can make improvements, strengthen systems, and modernize programs.



RECOMMENDATIONS PROPOSED BY STAKEHOLDERS

Recommendations to Improve Patient Access to Supportive Wraparound Services

- The federal Anti-Kickback Statute has limited safe harbors that enable health care industry stakeholders to pay for a patient's travel. Last year, the HHS Office of the Inspector General proposed expanding the travel safe harbor,¹²⁸ but this expansion is limited. The travel safe harbor has mileage limits, advertisement limits, and vehicle limits, among other constraints. Some patients participating in certain clinical trials also face limitations in their travel being covered. Congress should work on a bipartisan basis to understand and broaden the current and proposed safe harbor related to travel-related costs, lodging, etc., to ensure that access to care for Medicaid patients is not jeopardized.
- ✓ State Medicaid programs should adopt provider payment strategies to ensure that patients receiving CGT receive their followup care (as clinically appropriate) and primary care from providers who are paid economical rates.

Recommendations to Advance Value-Based Payments and Reduce Costs

One of the most challenging elements of VBP approaches for CGT identified by experts has been the complexity and time required in their design and implementation. A number of specific policies and actions can help address this dynamic to enable VBPs to be more rapidly created and scaled.

- ✓ HHS should finalize its 2019 proposed rule that would modernize "safe harbor protections under the Federal anti-kickback statute for certain coordinated care and associated value-based arrangements between or among clinicians, providers, suppliers, and others that squarely meet all safe harbor conditions."¹²⁹
- ✓ Congressional committees should, after the HHS 2019 rule is finalized, further evaluate perspectives from stakeholders on bipartisan legislative proposals that further modify the Anti-Kickback Statute in a manner that codifies (key provisions or the entirety of) the final rule and includes additional improvements to allow financial support from industry stakeholders for important elements of VBP such as infrastructure for patient registries, data and analytics, information technology, patient monitoring and patient-reported outcomes, etc.
- ✓ CMS should, before potential finalization of its rule, pursue further notice-and-comment rule making regarding the component of its June 2020 proposed rule that would effectively permit the calculation of multiple "best prices" for Medicaid-covered outpatient drugs that "could be made available by the manufacturer for a particular drug based on the drug's performance (such as the case with VBP arrangements that use evidence or outcomes-based measures) in a quarter."¹³⁰ While experts we spoke with were generally supportive of efforts to support VBP, given the level of detail in CMS's proposal, there remain important unanswered questions from many Medicaid stakeholders. For example, there are questions about how possible changes to best price calculations could impact:
 - Manufacturers' overall liability for Medicaid drug rebate calculations
 - Uniform data reporting and collection, as well as unintended consequences or gaming in pricing decisions
 - Overall Medicaid program spending for drugs (including CGT)
 - Incentives for VBP within Medicaid for drugs (including CGT, especially for rare conditions)
 - Medicaid patient access to drugs and CGT
 - Continued incentives for investment in research and development for CGT for Medicaid patients

The best way for CMS to address these complexities and concerns is through additional transparent notice-and-comment rule making.

- ✓ Congress should adopt the bipartisan policy, which would "add an option for states under SSA Section 1927 to pay for certain covered outpatient drugs through risk-sharing value-based agreements," through which "states would be able to use the risk-sharing value-based agreements with drug manufacturers for covered outpatient drugs that are potentially curative treatments intended for one-time use."¹³¹ This new option for states would allow payments for new VBP agreements to be "structured as installment-based payments with the state paying equal installments of the total installment year amount at regular intervals over the period of time."¹³²
- CMS should evaluate how it can further support the development of public and private sector efforts to accelerate VBP models for state Medicaid programs related to CGT.
- ✓ Private sector research initiatives and cross-sector collaboration to identify and propose new approaches to entrenched policy challenges are very important and should continue. Experts noted that states need modular VBP contractual options that can be tailored and scaled, rather than developed *ex nihilo* in single-case agreements with manufacturers, providers, and Medicaid MCOs. Collaborative efforts could help provide states with consistent approaches and reduce the development time required for VBP, while helping preserve appropriate flexibility for gaining efficiencies as new data becomes available.

Recommendations to Improve State Medicaid Program Leader Capacity

- ✓ Federal policymakers should support and encourage collaborative work among state Medicaid programs, researchers, and others to periodically catalogue states' financing models for VBP that support CGT. Such work could serve as a policy and technical resource to identify the necessary components of VBP in each successful state model, as well as identify proven or promising practices for other states to consider. These identified best practices should be gathered and disseminated over time to benefit states.
- Congress should provide state Medicaid programs with capacity development grants to support Medicaid program leadership and staff by improving their ability to (a) understand and prepare for a greater number of CGTs on the market and (b) adopt VBP models tying payment to clinical outcomes. Such capacity grants could help improve program management and oversight; inform negotiations with providers, Medicaid MCOs, and manufactures; and better equip Medicaid staff with fresh insights. Capacity grants could include a wide range of allowable activities that could be eligible for funding, including:
 - Professional development opportunities for Medicaid staff to learn about CGT, FDA approval pathways, evidence collection in clinical trials, etc.
 - Hiring and employing staff or paying contractors with needed subject matter knowledge, skills, or capabilities
 - Providing actuarial support for rate development and analysis, analytical support during procurement, and development or purchase of risk adjustment tools
 - Supporting information technology improvements
 - Improving monitoring and oversight
 - Quality measurement and state evaluation activities, development and deployment of survey tools, costs of accessing, transferring, and analyzing data
- ✓ Congress should evaluate legislative proposals that would provide enhanced federal financial support for the recruitment and retention of top-performing, senior leadership in state Medicaid programs. Such evaluation could include requests for information, committee hearings, or a series of structured conversations with Medicaid stakeholders.

Recommendations for Ongoing Research on Medicaid and CGT

Interviewees broadly expressed concerns that the high costs of many CGTs are exacerbated by the current COVID-19-related recession and fragile financial situation of state Medicaid programs. They noted that greater financial support for states could help avoid a scenario where states respond to the economic turmoil by restricting access to high-cost CGT or making deep reductions in other parts of their Medicaid program. Several experts we talked with expressed conceptual support for the countercyclical Medicaid financing proposal originally outlined by the Government Accountability Office (GAO) and reviewed by MACPAC.¹³³

Congress should hold a series of hearings examining the recent research on countercyclical financing proposals. Such hearings would be a useful venue for members to understand the issues of program data, precision and timing, and budgetary impacts, as well as to evaluate potential legislation. Such hearings would also be an appropriate time to hear testimony from economists, budget experts, Governors, Medicaid directors, and other state leaders.



Recommendations to Help Ease State Medicaid Financing Challenges Due to Recession

Many experts were familiar with the analytical work in recent years from the Duke Margolis Center for Health Policy, MIT NEWDIGS, and other related research efforts. Experts underscored the continued need for critical analysis and targeted research to develop promising policy concepts and surface new ideas related to CGT issues in Medicaid. They stressed the importance of cross-sector collaborations that tackle big challenges in Medicaid policy pertaining to CGT by addressing the equities, interests, and views of each Medicaid stakeholder. What follows are recommendations on specific research topics or approaches that merit consideration.

- Research focused on policy development should be presented in a manner that is accessible to federal and state policymakers. In many cases, such policymakers may understand one element of a particular policy or program challenge, but not have full visibility into all the other component elements or contingencies related to that challenge. Existing research should be packaged in a manner that is easily accessible in order to educate federal and state policymakers through visual, auditory, and interactive means.
- ✓ Stakeholders should continue to invest in ongoing and new cross-sector efforts that incubate research and development of payment and policy concepts for the public and private sectors with special attention to Medicaid CGT issues, especially to patients with rare conditions.
- ✓ Because of the significant number and potential of CGT products in development, stakeholders suggested that new, targeted federal financial support that helps states bear risk could be a significant mechanism to help maintain sustainable access to CGT. This may be especially warranted due to the unique market conditions of CGT for rare conditions. Further research could help explore what approaches could support states in a focused manner without inadvertently encouraging higher launch prices.
- Research addressing the prevalence of rare diseases across Medicaid patient populations can help policymakers connect CGT products in development with the footprint of patient populations in a specific state.
- Research related to how frequently individuals in Medicaid who receive CGT change sources of coverage would be of significant value. Such research could examine topics such as:
 - How frequently do Medicaid patients who receive CGT change sources of health coverage? How frequently and for what period of time do they:
 - Transition into private sector/commercial coverage?
 - Churn and come back into the Medicaid program?
 - Transition out of federally funded health coverage (e.g., Medicare, other Medicaid coverage within a different state or a different MCO within the same state, CHIP, qualified health plan coverage sold on the Exchanges, etc.)?

Such research could help policymakers and other assess the "practicality of including risk adjustment for prior transformative therapies (and the existence of a long-term VBP contract) in Medicare Advantage or other insurance choice systems."¹³⁴

- ✓ Congress should work together on a bipartisan basis to identify top research and data questions related to Medicaid CGT. Congress could then pursue its research agenda by requesting analytical work from Congressional advisory and analytical entities (MACPAC, GAO, CBO, CRS, etc.) designed to equip policymakers with more granular information.
 - For example, MACPAC has examined several issues related to Medicaid's coverage of and payment for specialty drugs. In 2018, MACPAC heard about different approaches states are taking to address the challenges of high-cost specialty drugs.¹³⁵ In 2019, MACPAC hosted a conversation that identified some key challenges for specialty drugs and discussed some potential policy solutions.¹³⁶ MACPAC could undertake additional work to specifically consider the challenges and opportunities pertaining to Medicaid coverage and payment of CGT and implications for Medicaid patients and stakeholders.
- ✓ Duke Margolis researchers identified the need for ongoing research to inform policymaking in three critically important areas:
 - First, "more research on best methods for tracking long-term outcomes data related to a therapy's impact through post-market registries or suitable claims data systems, improvements in targeting treatments to appropriate patients, and the ability to address unmet needs through more rapid and better-targeted access as a result of these risk-sharing approaches."¹³⁷

- Second, "additional economic and actuarial modeling could help predict the influx and financial impact of new, approved therapies." The researchers noted that "by clarifying the costs associated with developing and administering contracts, these economic and actuarial models may add clarity to why VBP arrangements may be worth their additional administrative complexity transformative therapies ideal for exploring VBP approaches."¹³⁸
- Third, more research is needed to identify promising "strategies for collecting appropriate longer-term outcome measures."¹³⁹ This could include "conducting registry or post-market studies of intermediate performance measures to validate long-term outcomes," or "linking the long-term outcome payments to measures included in registries in order to strengthen the support and quality of existing and planned transformative therapies registries."¹⁴⁰

Recommendations to Address the Lack of Visibility on the CGT Pipeline

MACPAC has recommended that Congress amend the Social Security Act to allow states to exclude or otherwise restrict coverage of a covered outpatient drug for 180 days after a new drug or new formulation of a drug has been approved by the FDA and entered the market.¹⁴¹ MACPAC explained their recommendation sought to address the concern that "current law does not provide sufficient time to assess the effectiveness of a drug or determine appropriate coverage and prior authorization criteria, especially when the drug under review is a first-in-class or novel, complex treatment."¹⁴² They concluded that "giving states time to review the literature regarding safety, efficacy, and clinical outcomes helps prevent potential drug-related harm and would not likely create undue access restrictions."¹⁴³

While this recommendation is a well-intended effort to allow program processes to be prepared for the arrival of a new drugs, including CGT, there are understandable concerns that this approach could limit access to life-saving, life-improving CGTs. Such delays could impact any patient who is a candidate for a CGT, posing serious problems for patients with progressive degenerative conditions like spinal muscular atrophy.

- ✓ MACPAC should reexamine their recommendation that Congress amend the Social Security Act to allow states to exclude or otherwise restrict coverage of a covered outpatient drug for 180 days after a new drug or new formulation of a drug has been approved by the FDA and entered the market.
 - MACPAC should work with patient advocates and researchers to evaluate alternate approaches to address the program concerns without an overly broad approach that could inadvertently create a barrier to timely patient access. One possible area for exploration could focus on identifying and removing barriers to more robust pre-approval communications between manufacturers and Medicaid programs.
- ✓ Drug manufacturers should engage state Medicaid programs 12 to 18 months before the anticipated approval of a CGT product to provide states with comprehensive information about a CGT candidate product in clinical trials. Manufacturers should provide as much information as possible on what is known regarding the following:
 - Clinical evidence on efficacy and durability of the CGT candidate product within Medicaid populations and subpopulations
 - Clinical evidence to support coverage within the expect FDA label
 - Disease burden of the condition or disease within each specific state (state-specific information)
 - Insights on what types of providers and sites of care are necessary
 - Insights on what types of support services, follow-up care, and other linkages may need to be made in a patient's care journey to ensure adherence with clinical protocols and successful treatment
 - Opportunities for value-based payment approaches tied to patient outcomes



Recommendations to Address Racial Inequities

Working to confront and erase racial inequities in health care is a very important and complex task. It is also important that stakeholders acknowledge that racial inequities present in health care overall are present in Medicaid and in access to CGTs in Medicaid. Thus, each Medicaid stakeholder has a responsibility to seek to be informed about current challenges and active within such stakeholder's sphere of influence to confront this reality and remove barriers to care.

- ✓ In general, federal and state policymakers working to confront and erase racial inequities in health care should consider how to leverage the important role Medicaid has to play as a regulator and payer.
- Congressional leaders seeking to understand the endemic persistence of the challenges they seek to tackle could benefit from marshalling available research. For example, Congressional Committees tasked with jurisdiction over the Medicaid program and the FDA could:
 - Request that the Congressional Research Service produce reports on issues and considerations regarding Medicaid, CGT, and racial inequities.
 - Solicit ideas from major stakeholders and from the public through a public open letter process to help them evaluate to
 what degree there may be appropriate, bipartisan ways to leverage the important role Medicaid has to play as a regulator
 and payer in confronting racial inequities in health care.
- ✓ Manufacturers of CGT should continue their efforts to ensure that clinical trials for CGT are diverse and include the full participation of the patient communities that would benefit from them.

Recommendations to Address the Social Determinants of Health

- ✓ To help address the social determinants of health (SDOH) that are a challenge for many Medicaid patients who need CGT, CMS should take several steps using their regulatory and administrative authority.¹⁴⁴ Some of these steps include:
 - Consolidate approved guidance to states and establish a learning collaborative for states addressing SDOH through their Medicaid programs.
 - Provide ongoing, direct technical assistance and guidance to state Medicaid programs in developing, implementing, and evaluating programs that incorporate SDOH interventions.
 - Provide guidance to states surrounding inducements and gifts, and how SDOH activities may fit within "safe harbor exceptions."
 - Outline provisions of the Medicaid managed care regulations that can be used to address SDOH and encourage states to use these flexibilities.



- Release a Request for Information on mechanisms through which CMS could address "premium slide" concerns raised by MCOs and states. Premium slide could occur if medical costs declined so significantly such that capitated rates also declined and inadvertently reduced the ability of MCOs to continue further investing in SDOH interventions.
- Encourage states to establish capitation rates that support SDOH interventions as quality improvement activities.
- Support efforts to make available template language for states to use for MCO contracts addressing SDOH.
- Experts expressed support for Congress ensuring there is funding for adequate surveillance and screening (including newborn screening and whole exome sequencing) for rare and genetic diseases, especially for pediatric populations. Patient advocates have discussed the challenges many patients and their families may face in receiving an accurate, timely diagnosis for a rare condition. In many cases, a diagnosis provides a way to connect to a specific patient community. Additionally, with so many CGTs in the pipeline for rare diseases and the potential for further clinical studies, parents need an accurate assessment for their child's condition, so they can receive the best care.

Recommendations to Address Access Barriers Related to Geography

- ✓ Congress should pass bipartisan legislation that would reduce barriers for Medicaid patients receiving CGT in a state other than the state in which they reside. This legislation should:
 - Respect a state program's authority over health care providers
 - Allow interested states to participate in an arrangement by which providers in another state have a streamlined fast-track process for being credentialed or enrolled in the state
 - Include safeguards to prevent waste, fraud, and abuse
 - Be designed to include pediatric providers and providers most likely to provide CGT (such as a center of excellence or academic medical center).
- The Accelerating Kids' Access to Care Act, a piece of bipartisan Senate legislation that was recently introduced, appears to meet these criteria, and it merits further development and passage by Congress.¹⁴⁵
- CMS should work with states to identify best practices for enrolling out-of-state providers in a timely and economical manner that safeguards program integrity. Proven and promising practices should be shared with the states via a State Medicaid Director letter or program information bulletin.
 - CMS should examine whether the responses to CMS's January 2020 Request for Information regarding "coordination of care from out-of-state providers for Medicaid-eligible children with medically complex conditions" are of sufficient detail and value to form the basis for such communication.¹⁴⁶
- State Medicaid program leadership for neighboring states, or states which see a significant number of Medicaid patients traveling between such states, should examine to what degree aligning on coverage and payment criteria would reduce administrative costs for the state program and Medicaid MCOs in both states.

Recommendations on Patient-Prioritized Outcomes and Evaluations of Therapy Success

- ✓ Manufacturers should collect data during CGT clinical trials sufficient to help inform Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) or Goal-Attainment Scaling outcomes that effectively serve as, or correlate with, endpoints for rare conditions.
 - "PROMs are standardized, validated questionnaires that are completed by patients' during the perioperative period to ascertain perceptions of their health status, perceived level of impairment, disability, and health-related quality of life" that "allow the efficacy of a clinical intervention to be measured from the patients' perspective."¹⁴⁷
 - Goal-Attainment Scaling "is an instrument that is intended to evaluate the effect of an intervention by assessing change in daily life activities on an individual basis." The tool is "most useful if improvement can be assessed in functional terms. The key element of GAS is the difference that a patient notices, which can also be assessed more or less objectively by an independent assessor. In some cases this could be measured objectively, even with a validated high quality Patient Reported Outcome Measure (PROM) or function test, but in many cases the patient's individual goals cannot be captured in an existing validated PROM or other measurement instrument."¹⁴⁸
- ✓ Payers should consider CGT clinical trial endpoints for rare conditions that may be atypical measures of efficacy but could represent more easily measurable standards of the functional benefits conferred by CGT.¹⁴⁹
- ✓ As appropriate, manufacturers should collect and make available to state Medicaid programs real-world data on how caregivers of patients receiving CGT experience a secondary benefit from the patient receiving CGT (such as reduced levels of stress and better ability to sleep, fewer missed work days, greater earnings, etc.) While such data may not in many cases identify positive benefits to caregivers that are hard costs for Medicaid, it is an important data point and could (for non-rare conditions) have a material impact on Medicaid-related costs.
- State Medicaid programs should work with Medicaid MCOs and providers to utilize patient survey data in developing metrics of success pertaining to the delivery and receipt of CGT.

CONCLUSION

While some health care challenges and their potential solutions polarize stakeholders and policymakers and thus are never overcome, there are others where consensus emerges and a problem once perceived as unconquerable is solved. Based on our conversations with experts from different parts of the health care ecosystem and levels of government, we believe that Medicaid coverage for cell and gene therapies, especially those for rare conditions, carries the potential to become one of those areas where consensus on the challenges and solutions could develop. The challenges surrounding this issue are significant. However, according to the experts interviewed, so are the consequences of failing to work together to find and implement solutions. Consideration and pursuit of the recommendations detailed above (and others that will emerge) could enable these challenges to be overcome, thus ensuring timely access to 21st-century treatments and cures for patients in the Medicaid program.



APPENDIX 1

FDA-Approved CGTs on the Market Today

Trade Name	Type of Therapy	Used to Treat
 HPC Cord Blood Therapies ALLOCORD CLEVECORD Ducord HEMACORD HPC, Cord Blood Other names as well 	Allogeneic cord blood hematopoietic progenitor (<u>cell therapy</u>)	For use in unrelated donor hematopoietic progenitor cell transplantation procedures in conjunction with an appropriate preparative regimen for hematopoietic and immunologic reconstitution in patients with disorders affecting the hematopoietic system that are inherited, acquired, or result from myeloablative treatment. ¹⁵⁰
GINTUIT (allogenic cultured keratinocytes and fibroblasts in bovine collagen)	Allogeneic cellularized scaffold product (cell therapy)	Treatment for topical (non-submerged) application to surgically created vascular wound bed in the treatment of mucogingival conditions in adults. ¹⁵¹
IMLYGIC (talimogene laherparepvec)	Genetically modified oncolytic viral therapy (<u>cell therapy</u>)	Local treatment of unresectable cutaneous, subcutaneous, and nodal lesions in patients with melanoma recurrent after initial surgery. ¹⁵²
KYMRIAH (tisagenlecleucel)	Genetically modified autologous T-cell immunotherapy (gene therapy)	Pediatric and young adult patients with a form of acute lymphoblastic leukemia . ¹⁵³
LAVIV (Azficel-T)	Autologous cellular product (<u>cell therapy</u>)	Improvement of the appearance of moderate to severe nasolabial fold wrinkles in adults. ¹⁵⁴
LUXTURNA (voretigene neparvovec-rzyl)	Adeno-associated virus vector-based <u>gene</u> <u>therapy</u>	Children and adults with confirmed RPE65 mutation-associated retinal dystrophy , which leads to vision loss and sometimes complete blindness. ¹⁵⁴
MACI (autologous cultured chondrocytes on a porcine collagen membrane)	Autologous cellularized scaffold product (cell therapy)	Repair of symptomatic, full-thickness cartilage defects in the knees of adult patients. ¹⁵⁵
PROVENGE (sipuleucel-T)	Autologous cellular immunotherapy (<u>cell</u> <u>therapy</u>)	Prostate cancer in patients with asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic metastatic castrate resistant (hormone refractory) cases. ¹⁵⁶
TECARTUS (brexucabtagene autoleucel)	Cell-based <u>gene therapy</u> (chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cell therapy)	Mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) in patients who have not responded to or relapsed after other types of therapies. ¹⁵⁷
YESCARTA (axicabtagene ciloleucel)	Cell-based <u>gene therapy</u> (CAR-T cell therapy)	Certain types of large B-cell lymphoma in patients who have not responded to or have relapsed after at least two other types of treatment. ¹⁵⁸
ZOLGENSMA (onasemnogene abeparvovec-xioi)	Adeno-associated virus vector-based <u>gene</u> <u>therapy</u>	Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) in patients less than 2 years of age. ¹⁵⁹

SOURCES

¹National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences. *Rare Disease Day at NIH* 2020. (2020, April 27). NCATS.NIH.gov. https://ncats.nih.gov/news/events/rdd ²The Margolis Center for Health Policy at Duke University and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT's) NEW Drug Development Paradigms (NEWDIGS) program have both worked on collaborative efforts in cell and gene therapy coverage and payment. Their works are cited throughout this paper.

³U.S. Food & Drug Administration. (2017, August 30). *FDA approval brings first gene therapy to the United States* [Press release]. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/ press-announcements/fda-approval-brings-first-gene-therapy-united-states ⁴Nienhuis, A. W. (2008). Development of gene therapy for blood disorders. Blood, 111(9), 4431–4444. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-11-078121

⁵American Society of Gene & Cell Therapy. *Gene & Cell Therapy FAQs*. (n.d.). ASGCT. org. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.asgct.org/education/more-resources/gene-and-cell-therapy-faqs

⁶AABB. *Facts About Cellular Therapies*. (n.d.). AABB.org. Retrieved October 03, 2020, from http://www.aabb.org/aabbcct/therapyfacts/Pages/default.aspx

⁷U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *What is Gene Therapy*? (2018, July 25). FDA. gov. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/ what-gene-therapy

⁸National Institutes of Health. (2020, August 17). *What is gene therapy?* NIH.gov. https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/primer/therapy/genetherapy

⁹Salzman, R., Malech, H. L., Reilly, P., Foss-Campbell, B., Barrett, D., Hunt, T., & Cook, F. (2018). Addressing the Value of Gene Therapy and Enhancing Patient Access to Transformative Treatments [Position Statement]. *Molecular Therapy, 26*(12), 2717–2726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.10.017

¹⁰Daniel, G., Leschly, N., Marrazzo, J., & McClellan, M. B. (2017, October 30). Advancing Gene Therapies and Curative Health Care Through Value-Based Payment Reform. HealthAffairs.org. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/ hblog20171027.83602/full/

¹¹U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *FDA approves novel gene therapy to treat patients with a rare form of inherited vision loss*. (2017, December 19). [Press release]. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-novel-gene-therapy-treat-patients-rare-form-inherited-vision-loss

¹²U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Approved Cellular and Gene Therapy Products*.
 (2020, July 24). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/approved-cellular-and-gene-therapy-products
 ¹³MIT NEWDIGS FoCUS Project. *Projections from the Existing Pipeline of Cell and Gene Therapies: Launches and Patient Numbers* [Research Brief]. (2018).
 Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Center for Biomedical Innovation.
 https://newdigs.mit.edu/sites/default/files/FoCUS%20Research%20Brief%20
 2018F210v027.pdf

¹⁴Cohen, J. (2019, June 5). At Over \$2 Million Zolgensma Is the World's Most Expensive Therapy, Yet Relatively Cost-Effective. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/ sites/joshuacohen/2019/06/05/at-over-2-million-zolgensma-is-the-worlds-mostexpensive-therapy-yet-relatively-cost-effective/#6b9be81345f5 ¹⁵Ibid

¹⁶U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Cellular & Gene Therapy Products*. (2019, June 20). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products

¹⁷As the FDA explains, "clinical trials are a kind of clinical research designed to evaluate and test new interventions such as psychotherapy or medications. Clinical trials are often conducted in four phases. The trials at each phase have a different purpose and help scientists answer different questions." In Phase I trials, researchers test an experimental drug or treatment in a small group of people for the first time. The researchers evaluate the treatment's safety, determine a safe dosage range, and identify side effects. In Phase II trials, the experimental drug or treatment is given to a larger group of people to see if it is effective and to further evaluate its safety. In Phase III trials, the experimental study drug or treatment is given to large groups of people. Researchers confirm its effectiveness, monitor side effects, compare it to commonly used treatments, and collect information that will allow the experimental drug or treatment to be used safely. Finally, the term Phase IV trials refers to post-marketing studies, which are conducted after a treatment is approved for use by the FDA and provide additional information including the treatment or drug's risks, benefits, and best uses. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. What Are the Different Types of Clinical Research? (2018, January 4). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/patients/clinical-trials-what-patients-need-know/ what-are-different-types-clinical-research

¹⁸Gottlieb, S., MD, & Marks, P., MD, PhD, & U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2019, January 15). *Statement from FDA Commissioner Scott Gottlieb, M.D. and Peter Marks, M.D., Ph.D., Director of the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research on new policies to advance development of safe and effective cell and gene therapies* [Press release]. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/ statement-fda-commissioner-scott-gottlieb-md-and-peter-marks-md-phd-directorcenter-biologics

¹⁹U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Cellular and Gene Therapy Guidances*. (2020, February 14). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/biologics-guidances/cellular-gene-therapy-guidances

²⁰Stanton, D. (2019, September 30). In the pipeline: Surge of cell and gene therapies likely. *BioProcess International*. https://bioprocessintl.com/bioprocess-insider/ therapeutic-class/in-the-pipeline-surge-of-cell-and-gene-therapies-likely-in-2020/ ²¹Id. at 13.

²²PhRMA. (2020, March). Medicines in Development for Cell and Gene Therapy 2020. https://www.phrma.org/en/Report/Medicines-in-Development-for-Cell-and-Gene-Therapy-2020 ²²Ibid

²⁴For example, in CVS Health's analysis of the near-term gene therapy pipeline, they concluded that the gene therapy in the pipeline for hemophilia A would have a market impact ranging from \$1.4 billion to \$5.8 billion over 5 years. The therapy in question is projected to launch in 2020. Brennan, T., MD, Chaguturu, S., MD, & Knecht, D., MD. (2020). *Gene Therapy: Keeping Costs from Negating Its Unprecedented Potential* [White Paper]. CVS Health. https://payorsolutions. cvshealth.com/sites/default/files/cvs-health-payor-solutions-gene-therapy-keeping-costs-from-negating-its-unprecedented-potential-white-paper-january-2020.pdf ²⁵PR Newswire. Global Cell and Gene Therapy Market to Reach \$11.96 Billion by 2025. (2019, August 6). *Bloomberg*. https://www.bloomberg.com/press-releases/2019-08-06/global-cell-and-gene-therapy-market-to-reach-11-96-billion-by-2025.

²⁶Id. at 16.

²⁷U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Priority Review*. (2018, January 4). FDA. gov. https://www.fda.gov/patients/fast-track-breakthrough-therapy-accelerated-approval-priority-review/priority-review

²⁸U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Accelerated Approval. (2018, January 4). FDA. gov. https://www.fda.gov/patients/fast-track-breakthrough-therapy-accelerated-approval-priority-review/accelerated-approval

²⁹A surrogate endpoint is a "biomarker that is intended to substitute for clinical endpoint," which is "a characteristic or variable that reflects how a patient feels, functions, or survives." Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. (2001). Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: Preferred definitions and conceptual framework. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 69*(3), 89–95. https://doi.org/10.1067/ mcp.2001.113989. A surrogate endpoint is used in lieu of a clinical outcome where (1) the clinical outcome would take a long time to occur; (2) the benefit of the surrogate endpoint is well understood; or (3) it would be unethical to conduce the clinical endpoint. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Surrogate Endpoint Resources for Drug and Biologic Development*. (2018, July 24). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/ drugs/development-resources/surrogate-endpoint-resources-drug-and-biologicdevelopment

³⁰U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Breakthrough Therapy*. (2018, January 4). FDA. gov. https://www.fda.gov/patients/fast-track-breakthrough-therapy-accelerated-approval-priority-review/breakthrough-therapy

³¹U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Fast Track*. (2018, January 4). FDA.gov. https:// www.fda.gov/patients/fast-track-breakthrough-therapy-accelerated-approvalpriority-review/fast-track

³²Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. *Eligibility*. (n.d.). Medicaid.gov. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/eligibility/ index.html

³³38 states and the District of Columbia (DC) have expanded Medicaid. Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. *Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions: Interactive Map.* (2020, October 1). KFF.org. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/statusof-state-medicaid-expansion-decisions-interactive-map/

³⁴June 2020 Medicaid & CHIP Enrollment Data Highlights. (n.d.). Medicaid.gov. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/programinformation/medicaid-and-chip-enrollment-data/report-highlights/index.html ³⁵Congressional Budget Office. (2020, March). Medicaid—CBO's Baseline as of March 6, 2020. https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2020-03/51301-2020-03-medicaid.pdf

³⁶For fiscal year 2019, FMAP ranged from 50% in 14 states to 76.4 percent in Mississippi. Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. (n.d.). Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) for Medicaid and Multiplier. KFF.org. Retrieved October 12, 2020, from https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/federal-matching-rateand-multiplier/?currentTimeframe=2&sortModel=%7B%22colld%22:%22Location% 22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D

³⁷Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. *Medicaid Managed Care Market Tracker*. (n.d.). KFF.org. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.kff.org/data-collection/ medicaid-managed-care-market-tracker/

 ³⁸Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2017, June). *Report to Congress on Medicaid and CHIP Chapter 1: Mandatory and Optional Enrollees and Services in Medicaid*. MACPAC.gov. https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/ uploads/2017/06/Mandatory-and-Optional-Enrollees-and-Services-in-Medicaid.pdf
 ³⁹42 U.S.C. § 1396d (10)(A) and § 1905 (a)(1)-(5). *Mandatory & Optional Medicaid Benefits*. (n.d.). Medicaid.gov. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www. medicaid.gov/medicaid/benefits/mandatory-optional-medicaid-benefits/index.html
 ⁴⁰42 U.S.C. § 1905 (a)(6)-(16), (18)-(20), (22)-(27). *Mandatory & Optional Medicaid Benefits*. (n.d.). Medicaid.gov. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www. medicaid.gov/medicaid/benefits/mandatory-optional-medicaid-benefits/index.html
 ⁴¹42 U.S.C. § 1396d (r). *Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment*. (n.d.). Medicaid.gov. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.medicaid.gov/ medicaid.gov.Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.medicaid.gov/ medicaid.gov.Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.medicaid.gov/ medicaid/benefits/early-and-periodic-screening-diagnostic-and-treatment/index. html

42Ibid.

⁴³Clary, A., Wirth, B., & National Academy for State Health Policy. (2015, October). State Strategies for Defining Medical Necessity for Children and Youth with Special Health Care Needs [Issue Brief]. https://www.nashp.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/10/EPSDT.pdf

⁴⁴For example, when evaluating state Medicaid coverage criteria for Zolgensma, a gene therapy indicated children under 2 years of age for spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), some states note in their coverage criteria that they have responsibilities under EPSDT to provide the treatment when medically necessary. One example of such coverage criteria can be found in Connecticut's Medical Assistance Program regulations. HUSKY® Health Connecticut. (2019, June 12). *Provider Policies & Procedures: Zolgensma® Policy*. HuskyHealthCT.org. https://www.huskyhealthct. org/providers/provider_postings/policies_procedures/Zolgensma_Policy.pdf ⁴⁵Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2014, June). *EPSDT - A Guide for States: Coverage in the Medicaid Benefit for Children and Adolescents*. Medicaid. gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/2019-12/epsdt_coverage_guide. pdf

⁴⁶Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2014, June). *EPSDT - A Guide for States: Coverage in the Medicaid Benefit for Children and Adolescents*. Medicaid. gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/2019-12/epsdt_coverage_guide. pdf; Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (n.d.). EPSDT in Medicaid. MACPAC.gov. Retrieved October 5, 2020, from https://www.macpac.gov/subtopic/ epsdt-in-medicaid/

⁴⁷Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. *Prescription Drugs*. (n.d.). Medicaid. gov. Retrieved October 4, 2020, from https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/ prescription-drugs/index.html

⁴⁸Gifford, K., Winter, A., Wiant, L., Dolan, R., Tian, M., & Garfield, R. (2020, April). How State Medicaid Programs are Managing Prescription Drug Costs: Results from a State Medicaid Pharmacy Survey for State Fiscal Years 2019 and 2020. http:// files.kff.org/attachment/How-State-Medicaid-Programs-are-Managing-Prescription-Drug-Costs.pdf

⁴⁹The Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF) found that 15 states opted to carve out certain high-cost drug groups/classes, and 3 additional states said they planned to carve out additional "blockbuster" drugs in 2020.

⁵⁰Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (n.d.). *Medicaid Covered Outpatient Prescription Drug Reimbursement Information by State*. Medicaid.gov. Retrieved October 5, 2020, from https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/prescription-drugs/ downloads/medicaid-covered-outpatient-prescription-drug-reimbursementinformation-state.pdf

⁵¹Congress created the program in the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990. Statutory program requirements are found at 42 U.S.C. 1396r–8.

⁵²42 U.S.C. 1396r-8 (a)(1). ⁵³42 U.S.C. 1396r-8 (d). ⁵⁴42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8 (c) (1)(C).

⁵⁵42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8 (c) (1)(B)(iii)(I).

⁵⁶Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2020, April). *Medicaid Pharmacy Supplemental Rebate Agreements (SRA)*. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid. gov/medicaid-chip-program-information/by-topics/prescription-drugs/downloads/ xxxsupplemental-rebates-chart-current-qtr.pdf

⁵⁷Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. *Medicaid Payment for Outpatient Prescription Drugs* [Issue Brief]. (2018). https://www.macpac.gov/wpcontent/uploads/2015/09/Medicaid-Payment-for-Outpatient-Prescription-Drugs.pdf ⁵⁸Id. at 48.

5942 U.S.C. § 1396r-8 (g)(1)(a).

6042 U.S.C. § 1396r-8 (D)(4)(a).

61 Id. at 48.

6242 U.S.C. § 1396r-8 (D)(4).

 ⁶³Dolan, R., & Tian, M. Management and Delivery of the Medicaid Pharmacy Benefit [Issue Brief]. (2019). Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://www.kff.org/ medicaid/issue-brief/management-and-delivery-of-the-medicaid-pharmacy-benefit/
 ⁶⁴Academy of Managed Care Pharmacy. Maintaining the Affordability of the Prescription Drug Benefit. (2019, July 18). AMCP.org. https://www.amcp.org/about/ managed-care-pharmacy-101/concepts-managed-care-pharmacy/Maintaining-the-Affordability-of-the-Prescription-Drug-Benefit

⁶⁵Calla, N., RPh, JD. (2013, December 18). What Is a Specialty Pharmacy? *Pharmacy Times*. https://www.pharmacytimes.com/publications/specialty-pharmacy-times/2013/nov_dec-2013/what-is-a-specialty-pharmacy

⁶⁶Medicaid Evidence-based Decisions Project (MED). *Medicaid and Specialty Drugs: Current Policy Options* [Policy Brief]. (2016). Oregon Health & Science University, Center for Evidence-based Policy. http://centerforevidencebasedpolicy.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/12/MED_Medicaid_and_Specialty_Drugs_Current_Policy_ Options_Final_Sept-9-2016.pdf

⁶⁷Elrod, J. K., & Fortenberry, J. L., Jr. (2017). Centers of excellence in healthcare institutions: what they are and how to assemble them. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17(Suppl 1)*(425). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2340-y
 ⁶⁸MIT NEWDIGS FoCUS Project. Role of Centers of Excellence (COE) *Networks in the Delivery of Curative Cellular Therapies in Oncology* [Research Brief]. (2018). Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Center for Biomedical Innovation. https://newdigs.mit.edu/sites/default/files/FoCUS%20Research%20Brief%20 2018F209v026_0.pdf

⁶⁹Several experts we talked to emphasized that the CoE model contributes to more limited access to CGTs, due to increased costs for transportation, lodging, logistical planning, and provider costs. Some experts also talked about the difficulties in interstate travel to CoE's.

⁷⁰Trusheim, M. R., MS, Cassidy, W. M., MD, & Bach, P. B., MD. (2018). Alternative State-Level Financing for Hepatitis C Treatment—The "Netflix Model." JAMA, 320(19), 1977-1978. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.15782

⁷¹Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services. (2019, June 26). *State Plan Amendment* (*SPA*) #19-0018 for Louisiana: Approval Letter, CMS 179 Form, and Approved Page. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/State-resource-center/ Medicaid-State-Plan-Amendments/Downloads/LA/LA-19-0018.pdf

⁷²Gilead enters subscription-based contract with Louisiana for hepatitis C drugs. (2019, March 27). *Modern Healthcare*. https://www.modernhealthcare.com/ government/gilead-enters-subscription-based-contract-louisiana-hepatitis-c-drugs ⁷³Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services. (2019, June 12). *State Plan Amendment* (*SPA*) #19-0008 for Washington: Supplemental Letter, Approval Letter, CMS 179 Form, and Approved SPA Pages. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/ default/files/State-resource-center/Medicaid-State-Plan-Amendments/Downloads/ WA/WA-19-0008.pdf

⁷⁴Washington State Health Care Authority. (2019, July 1). *HCA finalizes contract with AbbVie to eliminate HCV in Washington State* [Press release]. https://www.hca. wa.gov/about-hca/hca-finalizes-contract-abbvie-eliminate-hcv-washington-state ⁷⁵Smith, D. G. (2002, September 18). *Letter to State Medicaid Director*. Medicaid. gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/Federal-Policy-Guidance/downloads/smd091802. pdf

. ⁷⁶Id. at 48.

77Ibid.

⁷⁸Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services. (2018, July 27). State Plan Amendment (SPA) #18-0008 for Oklahoma: Approval Letter, CMS 179 Form, and Approved Page. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/State-resource-center/ Medicaid-State-Plan-Amendments/Downloads/OK/OK-18-08.pdf ⁷⁹Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services. (2018, November 4). *State Plan Amendment (SPA) #18-0009 for Michigan: Approval Letter, CMS 179 Form, and Approved SPA Page*. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/ State-resource-center/Medicaid-State-Plan-Amendments/Downloads/MI/MI-18-0009.pdf

 ⁸⁰Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services. (2019, February 25). State Plan Amendment (SPA) #18-0044 for Colorado: Approval Letter, 179, and Approved SPA Pages. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/files/State-resourcecenter/Medicaid-State-Plan-Amendments/Downloads/CO/CO-18-0044.pdf
 ⁸¹Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services. (2019, July 31). State Plan Amendment (SPA) #19-0001 for Massachusetts: Approval Letter, CMS 179 Form/Summary Form, and Approved SPA Pages. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/sites/default/ files/State-resource-center/Medicaid-State-Plan-Amendments/Downloads/MA/ MA-19-0001.pdf

⁸²Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2020b, September 30). CMS Releases Medicaid and CHIP Enrollment Trends Snapshot Showing COVID-19 Impact on Enrollment | CMS [Press release]. https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/pressreleases/cms-releases-medicaid-and-chip-enrollment-trends-snapshot-showingcovid-19-impact-enrollment

⁸³Frenier, C., Nikpay, S. S., & Golberstein, E. (2020). COVID-19 Has Increased Medicaid Enrollment, But Short-Term Enrollment Changes Are Unrelated to Job Losses. Health Affairs, 39(10), 1822–1831. https://doi.org/10.1377/ hlthaff.2020.00900

⁸⁴National Association of Medicaid Directors. (2019, November). *State Medicaid Operations Survey: Seventh Annual Survey of Medicaid Directors*. MedicaidDirectors. org. https://medicaiddirectors.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/100-copies-NAMD-Operations-Survey.pdf

⁸⁵Ibid.

86Ibid.

87Ibid.

88Ibid. Being transparent and accountable to the legislature, patients, and other Medicaid stakeholders is surely one hallmark of a good Medicaid director. Yet with Medicaid's role in our health care system growing over the years, a majority of Medicaid directors report feeling "increased scrutiny from the state legislature, increased expectations for engaging with stakeholders, and increased political pressure and visibility." While the professional demands on a Medicaid director are constant and increasing, in many cases, directors' salaries are a fraction of what they could make working in the private sector. Given the array of challenges that directors face, perhaps it is no surprise that the median tenure for Medicaid directors on the job has dropped below 2 years. Experts broadly emphasized that the milieu of Medicaid leadership dynamics and mundane day-to-day operational and management realities are an important factor behind the challenges that many Medicaid programs face in covering and paying for CGT for Medicaid patients. 89Lopez, M. H., Daniel, G. W., Fiore, N. C., Higgins, A., & McClellan, M. B. (2020). Paying for Value from Costly Medical Technologies: A Framework for Applying Value-Based Payment Reforms. Health Affairs, 39(6), 1018–1025. https://doi.org/10.1377/ hlthaff.2019.00771

⁹⁰Daniel, G. W., MD, Greene, K., MD, Lopez, M. H., MD, Schneider, M., MD, Rotter, J., McClellan, M. B., MD, Silcox, C., MD, Qian, J., MD, Fiore, N., MD, & Higgins, A., MD. (2019). *Breakthroughs and Barriers: Advancing Value-Based Payment for Transformative Therapies* [White Paper]. Duke Margolis Center for Health Policy. ⁹¹Barlow, J. F., MD, MPH, MBA, Yang, M., PhD, & Teagarden, J. R., MA, DMH. (2019). Are Payers Ready, Willing, and Able to Provide Access to New Durable Gene Therapies? *Value in Health*, *22*(6), 642–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jval.2018.12.004

92Id. at 9.

93Ibid.

94Id. at 91.

⁹⁵U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Surrogate Endpoint Resources for Drug and Biologic Development. (2018, July 24). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/ drugs/development-resources/surrogate-endpoint-resources-drug-and-biologicdevelopment

96Id. at 9.

⁹⁷Faulkner, E., Werner, M., & Falb, R. Roadmap for Navigating Cell and Gene Therapy Value Demonstration and Reimbursement in U.S. Managed Care [Monograph]. (2019). Alliance for Regenerative Medicine (ARM) & National Association of Managed Care Physicians (NAMCP). http://alliancerm.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/05/ARMMonograph2019.pdf 98Ibid.

99Id. at 68.

 ¹⁰⁰Coordinating Care from Out-of-State Providers for Medicaid-Eligible Children with Medically Complex Conditions, 85 Fed. Reg. 3,330 (Jan. 21, 2020).
 ¹⁰¹Id. at 97.

¹⁰²Ibid.

¹⁰³Id. at 9.

¹⁰⁴Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019, October 21). Data & Statistics on Sickle Cell Disease. CDC.gov. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/sicklecell/data.html ¹⁰⁵Hinton, E., Rudowitz, R., Diaz, M., & Singer, N. 10 Things to Know About Medicaid Managed Care [Issue Brief]. (2019). Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://www. kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/10-things-to-know-about-medicaid-managed-care/; Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (n.d.). 2018 Managed Care Enrollment Summary. Medicaid.gov. Retrieved October 5, 2020, from https://data.medicaid. gov/Enrollment/2018-Managed-Care-Enrollment-Summary/gn4b-7d7g/data ¹⁰⁶Id. at 97. While there are varying definitions of value-based payments, VBP models generally tie some level of payment to specific targets on cost, quality, or outcomes. For example, under a "pay for performance" model, health care providers may receive financial add-ons for achieving specific care, quality, and/ or cost targets. Another approach involves bundled payments in which health care providers are paid a fixed, predetermined fee to perform all the services associated with a given procedure, rather than an individual fee for service. Under managed care and capitation models, health plans and providers, respectively, may take full financial responsibility for the health and outcomes of a defined patient population. VBP models often also use shared savings or shared risk, in which providers or health plans may see a financial add-on or reduction based on their performance to manage costs and quality against a predetermined target.

¹⁰⁷Ibid. ¹⁰⁸Id. at 104.

¹⁰⁹Roberts, E. T., PhD, & Pollack, C. E., MD, MHS. (2016). Does Churning in Medicaid Affect Health Care Use? *Med Care, 54*(5), 483–489. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MLR.000000000000509

110Id. at 91.

¹¹¹Id. at 97.

¹¹²Courtney, M. W., Barlow, J. F., & Trusheim, M. (2020, January 9). Payer Perspectives on Reimbursement of One-Time High-Cost Durable Therapies. *PharmExec.* https://www.pharmexec.com/view/payer-perspectives-reimbursementone-time-high-cost-durable-therapies

¹¹³Ibid.

¹¹⁴Ibid.

¹¹⁵Park, C. & Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2018, October 25). Comparison of Medicaid Drug Coverage to Medicare Part D and Commercial Plans [Slides]. MACPAC.Gov. https://macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/ Comparison-of-Medicaid-Drug-Coverage-to-Medicare-Part-D-and-Commercial-Plans.pdf

¹¹⁶Id. at 57.

¹¹⁷Daniel, G. W., MD, Barker, T., Rai, A., Springer, C., Lopez, M. H., MD, Kalinina, J., Greene, K., MD, Qian, J., MD, & McClellan, M. B., MD. (2017). *Overcoming the Legal and Regulatory Hurdles to Value-Based Payment Arrangements for Medical Products* [White Paper]. Duke Margolis Center for Health Policy. https://healthpolicy.duke. edu/sites/default/files/2019-11/overcoming_legal_and_regulatory_hurdles_to_ value-based_payment_arrangements_for_medical_products.pdf

¹¹⁸Medicaid Program; Establishing Minimum Standards in Medicaid State Drug Utilization Review (DUR) and Supporting Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) for Drugs Covered in Medicaid, Revising Medicaid Drug Rebate and Third Party Liability (TPL) Requirements. 85 Fed. Reg. 37,286 (June 19, 2020).

¹¹⁹Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Service. (2020, June 19). Comments on Medicaid Program: Establishing Minimum Standards in Medicaid State Drug Utilization Review and Supporting Value-Based Purchasing for Drugs Covered in Medicaid, Revising Medicaid Drug Rebate and Third Party Liability Requirements. Regulations.gov. https://beta.regulations.gov/document/CMS-2020-0072-0001/ comment

¹²⁰Id. at 117.

¹²¹Ibid.

122Ibid.

 ¹²³Staman, J. A. (2014, September). Health Care Fraud and Abuse Laws Affecting Medicare and Medicaid: An Overview. Congressional Research Service. https://fas. org/sgp/crs/misc/RS22743.pdf
 ¹²⁴Id. at 117. ¹²⁵Id. at 112. 126Ibid. ¹²⁷Id. at 97.

¹²⁸Medicare and State Healthcare Programs: Fraud and Abuse; Revisions to Safe Harbors Under the Anti-Kickback Statute, and Civil Monetary Penalty Rules Regarding Beneficiary Inducements. 84 Fed. Reg. 55,694 (October 17, 2019). 129Ibid.

¹³⁰Id. at 118.

¹³¹Senate Committee on Finance. (2019, July 25). Description of the Chairman's Mark: The Prescription Drug Pricing Reduction Act (PDPRA) of 2019. Finance.Senate.gov. https://califesciences.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/07/TS-Summary-of-SFC-Chairmans-Mark-of-PDPRA-7-23-19. pdf; Prescription Drug Pricing Reduction Act of 2020, S.4199, 116th Cong. (2019-2020). https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/4199/ text?g=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22Prescription+Drug+ Pricing+Reduction+Act%22%5D%7D&r=2&s=8

132Ibid.

¹³³C. L. Yocom. (2016, February). *Testimony Before the Subcommittee on Health,* Committee on Energy and Commerce, House of Representatives: MEDICAID: Changes to Funding Formula Could Improve Allocation of Funds to States. United States Government Accountability Office; Forbes, M. (2019, December 12). Issues for a Countercyclical Federal Medical Assistance Percentage [Slides]. MACPAC. https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Issues-for-a-Countercyclical-Federal-Medical-Assistance-Percentage.pdf; Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. Considerations for Countercyclical Financing Adjustments in Medicaid [Issue Brief]. (2020). MACPAC. https://www.macpac. gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Considerations-for-Countercyclical-Financing-Adjustments-in-Medicaid.pdf; Forbes, M., & Park, C. (2020, September 24). Estimating the Effects of a Prototype Countercyclical Financing Adjustment for Medicaid [Slides]. Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. https:// www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Estimating-the-Effects-of-a-Prototype-Countercyclical-Financing-Adjustment-for-Medicaid-1.pdf ¹³⁴Id. at 90.

¹³⁵Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2018, December 13). Public Meeting. https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/December-2018-Meeting-Transcript.pdf

¹³⁶Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2018, December 13). Public Meeting. https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/December-2018-Meeting-Transcript.pdf; Zettle, A., & Park, C. (2019, December 12). Themes from Expert Roundtable on Medicaid Policy on High-Cost Drugs [Slides]. Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. https://macpac.gov/wp-content/ uploads/2019/12/Themes-from-Expert-Roundtable-on-Medicaid-Policy-on-High-Cost-Drugs.pdf

¹³⁷Id. at 90. 138Ibid. 139Ibid. 140Ibid. ¹⁴¹Id. at 38. 142Ibid. ¹⁴³Ibid.

¹⁴⁴National Alliance to Impact the Social Determinants of Health (NASDOH). (2019, April 1). Letter to Administrator Verma, CMS. NASDOH.Org. https://www.nasdoh. org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Medicaid-Letter-to-Administrator-Verma-Final. pdf

¹⁴⁵U. S. Senate Committee on Finance. (2020, September 25). Grassley, Colleagues Introduce Bill to Increase Health Care Access for Children [Press release]. https:// www.finance.senate.gov/chairmans-news/grassley-colleagues-introduce-bill-toincrease-health-care-access-for-children

146 Id. at 100.

¹⁴⁷Kingsley, C., MBBS BSc FRCA, & Patel, S., MBBS BMedSci FRCA. (2017). Patientreported outcome measures and patient-reported experience measures. BJA Education, 17(4), 137-144. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjaed/mkw060 148Gaasterland, C. M. W., Jansen van der Weide, M. C., Roes, K. C. B., & van der Lee, J. H. (2019). Goal attainment scaling as an outcome measure in rare disease trials: a conceptual proposal for validation. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 19(227), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0866-x ¹⁴⁹Id. at 9.

¹⁵⁰Id. at 12. These eight products all treat the same indications and are the same type of cellular therapy. They are combined on this chart for brevity. biologics/ cellular-gene-therapy-products/approved-cellular-and-gene-therapy-products ¹⁵¹U.S. Food and Drug Administration. GINTUIT (Allogeneic Cultured Keratinocytes and Fibroblasts in Bovine Collagen). (2018, February 20). FDA.gov. https://www.fda. gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/gintuit-allogeneiccultured-keratinocytes-and-fibroblasts-bovine-collagen

¹⁵²U.S. Food and Drug Administration. IMLYGIC (talimogene laherparepvec). (2019, December 13). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellulargene-therapy-products/imlygic-talimogene-laherparepvec ¹⁵³Id. at 3.

¹⁵⁴U.S. Food & Drug Administration. LAVIV (AzficeI-T). (2018, March 16). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/lavivazficel-t

¹⁵⁵Id. at 11.

¹⁵⁶U.S. Food and Drug Administration. MACI (Autologous Cultured Chondrocytes on a Porcine Collagen Membrane). (2019, September 30). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/ vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapy-products/maci-autologous-culturedchondrocytes-porcine-collagen-membrane

¹⁵⁷U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *PROVENGE (sipuleucel-T)*. (2019, May 28). FDA.gov. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/cellular-gene-therapyproducts/provenge-sipuleucel-t

¹⁵⁸U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2020, July 24). FDA Approves First Cell-Based Gene Therapy for Adult Patients with Relapsed or Refractory MCL [Press release]. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-first-cellbased-gene-therapy-adult-patients-relapsed-or-refractory-mcl

¹⁵⁹U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2017, October 18). FDA approves CAR-T cell therapy to treat adults with certain types of large B-cell lymphoma [Press release]. https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-car-t-celltherapy-treat-adults-certain-types-large-b-cell-lymphoma

¹⁶⁰U.S. Food & Drug Administration. (2019, May 24). FDA approves innovative gene therapy to treat pediatric patients with spinal muscular atrophy, a rare disease and leading genetic cause of infant mortality [Press release]. https://www.fda.gov/ news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-innovative-gene-therapy-treatpediatric-patients-spinal-muscular-atrophy-rare-disease